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The gatehouse







Travel Back in Time to

the Boleyns’ Home


B
 efore we
 begin to explore the complex and colourful lives of the Boleyns of Hever Castle, who called this place ‘home’ for seventy-seven years, let us introduce you to Hever by way of a tour of the castle. Some of you may have visited this extraordinary surviving property, and others may not. Still, the Hever that we will explore now hasn’t been seen since the Boleyns finally left in 1540, so we will journey through Hever Castle as the Boleyn family most likely knew it.

[image: Hever Exterior]



The exterior of the castle



There has been some debate about how much of the Boleyns’ house at Hever survives, with attention made to the three significant restoration periods between 1830-1903. While the layout of some chambers has altered, the usage of some rooms changed, and a later veneer of fittings and furnishings added, this is overwhelmingly the same space that the Boleyn family occupied. We are walking in the footsteps of this notorious family, who set the country in a roar and who made Hever endlessly famous. The year is 1513.





First impressions


S
 tanding on
 the ridge of a hill to the southwest, just by Hever’s St Peter’s Church, Hever Castle stands at the bottom of a basin, just to the south of the river Eden: white, moated, and majestic. This castle is not alone, for many outbuildings surround the castle, and the activities in these many simpler buildings, and the work of its inhabitants, are part of the established mechanisms by which Hever functions. Because the moat feeds from the unpredictable river, it has been known to flood on occasion. But this modest castle is perfect for the Boleyns. Indeed, it sits at the very heart of Thomas Boleyn’s world. We are a day’s ride to Henry VIII’s favoured palace of Greenwich, and the same distance to Dover, from where many voyages for Thomas’ diplomatic missions for the king will depart. Hever is a place of safety and privacy for the Boleyns. Thomas’s father, William Boleyn, gave his daughter-in-law, Lady Elizabeth Howard, a lifetime stake in Hever Castle as part of her wedding dower. Thomas and Elizabeth are joint owners of Hever, and they have placed their children where they are most accessible.

[image: Hever Castle from St Peters Church by David Cox Jnr]



Hever Castle from St Peter’s Church by David Cox Jnr, 19th
 century



There are much grander and newer manors in the Boleyns’ increasingly impressive portfolio of properties, so the Boleyns do not need to be at Hever: they want and choose to be here. Again, and again later in the 1520s, we find the Boleyns at Hever. Thomas does much business from here, being a diligent steward to his lands and the nearby crown property of Penshurst, of which Thomas is appointed steward. Later, Anne uses Hever as almost a safety valve to take the pressure off her as she negotiates the uncharted and turbulent waters created in the wake of Henry’s determination to marry her. Hever is close to Henry’s court, private, and somewhere shaded from the heat of scandal and gossip, and Anne’s absence drives the king to write steamy love letters to her here. Absence makes Henry’s heart grow that much fonder for Anne that he feels compelled to enclose her initials in a heart.

[image: The original portcullis from 1383]



The original portcullis from 1383



There is a long tradition that Thomas and Elizabeth’s five children - Thomas, Mary, Anne, George, and Henry - spent their childhood here from 1505. By 1513, two of the Boleyn boys have died. The graves survive today and have been statistically dated to between 1505-35. These lost Boleyn boys likely died in infancy. By 1513, Hever has been a site of much sorrow for Thomas and Elizabeth Boleyn. It is, however, now a flurry of excitement, for Thomas’s ability to ingratiate himself with those he is sent to do diplomacy for the king has won his daughters coveted places to finish their education at two European courts. Hever is soon to be a smaller household, for Anne Boleyn is headed to the court of Margaret of Austria in the Low Countries, and soon, her sister Mary will head to the court of France.

With Hever’s Church of St Peter behind us, we head down the main road, which takes us far closer to the castle than that which exists today. Hever is open to the traveller’s eye. Dismantled in the 1890s, Hever’s first line of defence is a guardhouse: a simple two-storey structure from which an alarm could be raised to the main fortress. We pass without challenge, for we are welcome visitors today. As we continue, a vast wooden building stands to our right beyond a large pond that feeds from the outer moat. Hever elegantly emerges from the water of the inner moat to our left-hand side as we approach the castle’s keep.





Castle Forecourt


Y
 ou may
 well have seen the actor Richard Burton as Henry VIII riding his horse over the drawbridge and into Hever’s courtyard. What you don’t see on screen is the wooden ramp the production company installed to facilitate the horse getting down the rather steep steps into the courtyard. In the Boleyns’ time, the steps are somewhat shallower, for William Waldorf Astor lowered the ground floor level from 1903 to provide more height to the ground floor chambers. However, the Boleyns don’t need to ride into the castle courtyard, for the great Tudor stables are located slightly southwest in front of the castle. This is an impressive two-storey building, with five sleeping chambers above the stables for the groomsmen and a large, vaulted chamber with a crown post roof. On the south face is a beautiful open balcony with stairs leading down. This is a hive of activity when the Boleyns are in residence, as much of their sport here - boar and deer hunting - requires its workers to tend to their horses constantly.

[image: Hever Castle with the Tudor stables, 19th century]



Hever Castle, 19th century.



Approaching the castle, we notice the partially stone bridge across the moat, with a wooden drawbridge leading to the keep. The drawbridge can, if necessary, be hauled up at a moment’s notice to protect the Boleyn family. Hever has always been a home, but it is far more so now in this period of relative peace and stability. The original medieval defensive mechanisms are still in place and fully functional. Above our heads are beautifully formed machicolations: overhanging protrusions from the roof of the gatehouse through which arrows and heavy detritus could be propelled down. Just as the drawbridge can be pulled up, no less than three wooden portcullises can be dropped down from the chambers above. Lattice gates can be locked behind the first portcullis, and a vast oak door closed in front of the third. If trapped between these portcullises, murder holes can be opened from the keep’s central chamber, and arrows fired down them. Even in a time of peace, Hever is prepared to be deadly to those who arrive without an invitation.

[image: A sketch of the gatehouse]



Sketch of Hever’s gatehouse, 19th
 century







Castle Courtyard
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Ground Floor Plan




W
 e can
 smell the house before we see it. When the Boleyn family is at home, ten fireplaces can be burning during the colder months, and the courtyard occasionally blusters with smoke when the wind changes. Before us are a functioning courtyard and a beautifully half-timbered manor house. There are two floors in this house and five doors for us to choose to enter from the courtyard. We shall explore beyond all of them.

[image: A reconstruction of the courtyard]



A reconstruction of the courtyard



If we step down two steps into the courtyard, there is a criss-cross of paths to the main doors of the house, for this is a functioning courtyard. The path between the gatehouse and the main doors is offset slightly as the keep itself has an offset gateway, being positioned to the east of the structure. This is to afford two additional chambers besides the space required on the middle floor to raise the portcullises and the mechanisms to raise them on the upper floor. Turning back to look at the inner south face of the keep, we see two doors on either side of the gatehouse. To the left is a vice staircase that travels the full height of the imposing structure. To the right is a door into the guardhouse. We can still see the now bricked up remnants of this door today.

Turning clockwise, we see another unfamiliar door between the bays of the west elevation of the house. This doorway leads to the chatelaine’s offices and Thomas Boleyn’s study. This is the business floor of the household. Much of the light to these rooms is drawn from the castle’s centre via the bay window into the courtyard. To the north of this area is a staircase, now long gone, which leads to the family apartments.

The next door, opposite the gatehouse, is the family door, and it has a small porch that leads to the screens passage and the great hall to the left-hand side. This is the door through which every generation of the Boleyn family that has resided here has passed. It is also the door by which their friends, family and visitors enter. Some particularly important heads have travelled under the stunning medieval arch to the screens passage, which remains intact today thanks to the protection of the porch. We will travel through the fifth and final door and explore domestic Hever before visiting the family apartments.





Domestic Hever

[image: Reconstruction of the Kitchen]



A reconstruction of the kitchen




S
 everal smells
 hit us as we walk through the door on the east elevation: dairy, raw hung meat, and smoke from the nearby kitchens. This is the servants’ side of the household, and it is a vastly different realm from the comfy family home. The buttery, to our right, is one of the coolest parts of the household as the sun only touches its walls briefly as it rises. Here, milk from the Hever estate is prepared, and cream turned to butter. To the left of the buttery, the larder contains the produce for the house and is also kept cool with the exterior thick stone walls starved of sunlight.

Travelling left, we enter the great kitchens. There are two roaring fireplaces here against the east elevation, and these are the very heart of the kitchen. The chimney stack that feeds the boisterous fireplaces will later collapse in the nineteenth century when this space stopped being used as the main kitchens for the house. The kitchens are in their heyday during the Boleyns’ tenure, and it is a site of significant labour when running at its full capacity. This is very much a male-dominated space, and the roof is double height to help with the often-overpowering heat of the fireplaces with large joints roasting for the Boleyns’ table. We could venture through a small service passageway on the west wall of the kitchens, which leads to the more public areas of the family home. We could also alight a staircase that the Boleyns have added with a tower in brick on the east curtain wall. This would take us to a large dormitory where the principal servants bed down. Instead, we are going to retrace our steps and return briefly to the courtyard.





The Centrepiece

[image: Reconstruction of the Great Hall]



Reconstruction of the Boleyns’ great hall




A
 s we
 approach the family entrance, with its modest little porch and arched doorway, we step directly into the screens passage, the screen being located to the east end of the great hall. Turning left, we enter this major room of the Boleyns’ house. This space was once greater still, as it once stretched fully to the west curtain wall, but it retains its original crown post roof. The Boleyns have made the arrangements of this room much more comfortable. A small chamber has been added to the west of the great hall, making the space more compact. Gone is the original central hearth and the open smoke hole in the roof. In its place, a side fireplace has been added, which heats the chamber more efficiently. This is a room with many functions, and not least eating. Much revelry has been enjoyed in this space. The hearth here has consumed many festive Yule logs and the various fine tapestries, which glitter by the naked flame, hold strong the scent of smoky and celebratory evenings.

For all the room’s splendour, the Boleyns only eat here when celebrating important feast days and entertaining parties of guests. The occupants of the outbuildings and their estate tenants will also join them at Christmas and will be gifted food to take home. Their most important guests dine with the family on the dais: the raised platform at the west end of the hall, which is lit by a newly cut window. Below this large window are the aumbries of the great hall, where plate can be stored and displayed. When alone, the Boleyns dine “en famille” in their private great chamber, and their closest friends can dine with them there too. The great hall is more generally a public space where the household can dine and where the more junior staff can bed down by the embers of the fire. What makes the room even more public is a small peephole window situated high on the west screen. This is where the family can, should they wish, observe the activities of their servants from their private chambers above. Decorating this screen, which divides the great hall, are carved, green men. To the north of the screen is a door, which we pass through.





The Boleyns’ Inner Sanctum

[image: The morning room parlour]



The Boleyns’ parlour today




Y
 ou are
 a valued guest if you have made it this far into the Boleyns’ privy apartments. There is no confusing this wing of the household with the domestic spaces we visited so far. The Boleyns created this small, tapestried room from the west end of the original great hall, and it is much more comfortable, and warmer too. This new room, which the Boleyn women would chiefly use, gains all the benefit of having the old large oriel window, which once provided light to the head of the household on the dais of the great hall. This room gets all the afternoon sunlight, and the rippling moat creates stunning and often mesmerising silhouettes on the ceiling before the window. A fireplace has also been added, which is a necessity in the frozen months, and it shares a chimney with the chamber above.

This room is where a very young Anne and Mary have learnt numerous stitches from their governess, Mrs Orchard, their mother, Lady Elizabeth Howard, and their grandmother, Lady Margaret Butler. Here, the women of the household talk – or parlay (hence ‘parlour’) – and complete the blackwork for their smocks and the shirts for the men of the household. This isn’t considered labour for women of the Boleyns’ status, for all its effort. One wall-hanging is pulled back in the northeast corner, and an open door leads to a stone vice staircase.

Having climbed the staircase, which spirals in an anti-clockwise fashion, we enter a moderately sized antechamber. We are now in the Boleyns’ solar, a suite of family rooms that is undoubtedly the most comfortable and private area at Hever. Just as the great hall is a room of many functions, so too is this space. The oriel window continues up to this space. This chamber, with its small low window, allows us to gaze down into the great hall.

[image: Reconstruction of the Great Chamber]



A reconstruction of the great chamber



The great chamber is the very heart of the Boleyns’ family home here at Hever, and this is where we find the finest furniture and furnishings. Carpets have been imported from the Continent, and elegantly carved mahogany furniture can be found throughout. The chamber has painted panelling full of emblems, which meet with fine tapestries and arras hanging on the walls. In modern terms, this is their multifunctional living room. In previous years, it has also functioned as the nursery and schoolroom to the Boleyn children, and they bedded down together here too. Many conversations about the arts, religion, and politics have been and will be had in this most private space. Hever isn’t modern or massive, but it is discrete. Forbidden subjects, such as religious reform, will be spoken more easily in these trustworthy walls. Unthinkable achievements, such as wearing the crown of England, will later be discussed here too.

The best bedchamber lies beyond a door to the west of the great chamber. This bedchamber has a sizeable fireplace on the west curtain wall and a luxurious bed with curtains and a tester roof. Its walls are similarly hung with precious textiles. This is the chamber that Thomas and Elizabeth occupy when they are together at Hever. A small doorway to the southwest leads to a garderobe, which has been built into the castle’s west tower. Another door in the southeast corner leads into the original castle keep, with a staircase to the righthand side and a door ahead.





The Keep


T
 he offset
 keep allows for three upper chambers in the castle’s keep, with the guardhouse below making a fourth. The door ahead takes us to another antechamber which can also, if necessary, operate as another bedchamber. The fireplace here feeds all three upper chambers, and it makes for a comfortable place to retire and catch up on correspondence. It may well be in this space that Thomas Boleyn reads the letter Anne writes him a year later in 1514 from the court of Archduchess Margaret of Austria. It may also be the room where Anne Boleyn reads and replies to King Henry VIII’s letters.

[image: First Floor Plan]



First floor plan of the castle
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Second and third floor plan of the castle



Walking up that steep set of stairs we just now encountered, lit by a small window to our right, we enter another larger chamber. This space has been partitioned off, for beyond its east wall are apertures for the three portcullises to ascend. Again, this is a comfortable chamber with ample room for accommodation, and the need to lower the portcullises beyond is so infrequent now that they are a silent presence in the space beyond. The fireplace makes this a readily warm space, and the south-facing window provides good light in the day.

A passageway to the east leads us past the portcullis channel, which is panelled, and to the vice staircase of the castle’s keep. Heading up a flight of stairs, curved clockwise, we enter another passageway. To our right is a large winch for the inner portcullis, and beyond the discrete door in the panelling to our left are another winch and a smaller trestle winch in the centre for the middle portcullis. Carrying on along the passage, we find a twin chamber to the one below, again borrowing the chimney for its fireplace.





The Roof

[image: An aerial photo of the castle today]



Aerial photo of Hever Castle today




R
 eturning once
 again to the passageway, we enter through the discrete door into the space housing the two previously hidden winches. There is also a door on the east face of the chamber, through which we enter. It leads to another steep stone staircase, with a dummy gun port to the right, from which a small window to the left borrows some light for the winch chamber. Carrying up the staircase, we exit through a door to the left, which takes us to the keep’s roof. This is where archers can fire through the castle crenels or down the machicolations and then hide behind the merlons. The square chimney stack sits to the north of the roof. Now in more peaceful times, it has provided much entertainment for the Boleyn children in the past years.

The views from the roof are breathtaking. We can see the River Eden snake past the castle to the north and the Church of St Peter to the southeast, with the great Tudor stables in between. This is a thickly wooded part of the Kentish Weald, and the great oak trees will provide not only comfort by way of heat, but later in the Tudor era, will provide significant profit by way of the iron industry and their use to fuel the furnaces. This is a vastly different landscape to the one seen today, with marshland to the east. It is a haven.

[image: The castle courtyard]



The castle courtyard today



Hever is by no means the Boleyns’ only property. Indeed, Thomas Boleyn has inherited and amassed a good number of properties, some of which are let out for income and others occupied when the family is in Norfolk or London. Hever is, however, a place that the Boleyns will return to again and again in the late 1520s, when the King of England turns his attention to Anne Boleyn. Far more extravagant furnishings will occupy these chambers in the coming years when Anne achieves the unthinkable, and Thomas Boleyn assumes the role of King Henry’s father-in-law. Many tears will be shed within these walls when both Anne and her younger brother George are suddenly and brutally killed barely a thousand days later. The whistle of the French sword upon Tower Green on 19th
 May 1536 will sound the death knell of the Boleyns of Hever.

After seventy-seven years of family ownership, and after both Elizabeth and Thomas’s deaths, the castle is sold by indenture to the Crown, and Henry takes possession of the castle his now-deceased second queen called ‘home’. Hever Castle was, for a time, the jewel in the Boleyns’ crown as it signified their exceptional rise to nobility. This is the story of the rise of a remarkable family who, over five generations, rose from petty crime to a castle, from Hever to the throne of England.





The Boleyns of Hever Castle

(1462-1505)
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I
 n modern
 popular culture, Anne Boleyn’s story is portrayed as one of rags-to-riches, and Hever, the Boleyn’s little family castle, is used to emphasise her extraordinary rise. This version of Anne is the daughter of a ruthless Kentish knight, willing to pawn his daughters for power. Because of her families’ merciless scheming, Anne is propelled from her modest moated manor house to the magnificence of the palaces of King Henry VIII. The Boleyns shown on film and television are grasping, ruthless and thoroughly unlikeable. Their dramatic end is often viewed as ‘just desserts’ for daring to aim too high.
1



This story is so familiar in the public consciousness that it seems implausible that the Boleyns revealed to us in the archives are far more complex and interesting than this tired trope suggests.
2

 The Boleyns were most certainly ambitious, but their fortune and extraordinary rise had taken place long before Henry VIII decided to pursue the dazzling Anne Boleyn. As the historian Lauren Mackay has argued in her compelling revision of this stereotyping of the Boleyns, it was the family’s rise in the fifteenth century that enabled the Boleyns to flourish in the early sixteenth century. The first Boleyns of Hever Castle achieved their wealth and status, rather than being born into it, as Anne Boleyn was.
3



Our story begins not at Hever Castle, nor in Kent, but in the county of Norfolk where all the Boleyns of Hever Castle were likely born. It is believed that the family had their roots in France and may have descended from the Counts of Boulogne, who came over to England with the Norman invasion in the eleventh century and who settled first in Somerset and Surrey.
4

 There are family trees that trace the Boleyn family back to Eustace I, Count of Boulogne (d.1049), who was descended from Baldwin II, Count of Flanders, and Ælfthryth, daughter of Alfred the Great. However, it is impossible to say whether these family trees are accurate. By the mid-thirteenth century, the ‘de Boleyne’ or ‘de Boulogne’ family had settled in Norfolk in a small parish called Salle.

Around the time that John de Cobham of Devonshire, a wealthy Sussex landowner and tax collector, was granted a licence to crenellate his Kentish manor of Hever by King Richard II in 1383, Geoffrey Boleyn Senior was born in Salle. Hever and Salle were remarkably similar in population size, but the social standing of the Boleyns a generation before they would own Hever was vastly below that of the builder of Hever Castle. For many years it was believed that Hever Castle had been built in 1271; however, John Goodall, Anthony Emery, John Newman and Nikolaus Pevsner have all forcefully argued that stylistically, the Hever Castle which stands today was built later, in 1383, in the wake of a period of considerable social unrest.
5



The Peasants’ Revolt of 1381, when the Kentish-born Wat Tyler marched on King Richard II, was emblematic of the social unrest which ripped through England like the ‘Great Storm’ of that year. Plague, rising taxation to fund war with France, and protest about serfdom dramatically came to a head with the rebels storming the Tower of London and beheading the king’s right-hand man. The brutal beheading of Archbishop of Canterbury and Lord Chancellor Simon Sudbury no doubt underpinned the reason for John de Cobham wanting to fortify his principal property of Hever. This was a castle designed to protect the occupants from internal strife as much as any threat of invasion. Before the Boleyns changed its name to ‘Hever Castle’, it bore the name of ‘Hever Cobham’ in recognition of the owner who built high the sandstone walls around the manor house.

Geoffrey Boleyn Senior’s life in Salle was markedly different from that of Hever Castle’s builder. He was born as a worker of the land, not an owner of it. He was employed as a tenant farmer, and there is also evidence that he was involved in the wool trade. Much of our information on Geoffrey’s life is from the courts and shows him to be on the fringes of the law, being regularly involved in petty crimes.
6

 Many of these incidents centralise around his involvement with the building and repair of Salle Church, such as illegally storing timbers.
7

 It appears that he and his father, Thomas Bulleyn of Salle, were involved in building the parish church, even if Geoffrey Senior’s methods were on the edge of what was considered legal and proper. Later, he was also found to be extending the parameters of the modest land he acquired by over ploughing.
8

 Geoffrey Boleyn Senior spent his life ‘getting by’. His son, also called Geoffrey Boleyn, would radically change the fortunes of the Boleyn family.

[image: The Arms of Geffrey Boleyn]



The arms of Geoffrey Boleyn in Hever Castle’s long gallery



Geoffrey Boleyn was the first of the Boleyns to amass enough of a fortune to own Hever Castle. He was born around 1405
9

 and was the son of Geoffrey Boleyn Senior (d. 1440) and his wife, Alice, who were both buried in the church at Salle.
10

 Geoffrey Boleyn is the one who brought the Boleyn family to prominence through his activities in London, and it is Sir John Fastolf, a previous owner of Hever Castle, who is partly responsible for Geoffrey’s success. Fastolf favoured the young Geoffrey and took him to London, where he helped him get established.
11

 In June 1428, Geoffrey was “admitted into the freedom of the City in the Art of Hatter”, and in February 1435, he was admitted as a mercer.
12



This was a time of increasing opportunity as wealth and power were incredibly attainable by those with inherited status and those with acumen and skill. Historian Eric Ives draws our attention to the fact that William de la Pole, whose great-grandfather had been a merchant in Hull, had been created Duke of Suffolk in 1448. Geoffrey Boleyn was one of the new men who would rise to power, and he solidified his successes with an advantageous marriage into the nobility, taking Anne Hoo, daughter of nobleman Sir Thomas Hoo, the future Lord Hoo and Hastings, as his second wife – his first wife, Dionise, having died. As William Dean states, Geoffrey was the “pivotal Boleyn”, and his rise in wealth and status would ensure that his surviving male heir, William Boleyn, was a respectable gentleman.
13



In September 1446, Geoffrey was appointed as a sheriff for London and Middlesex, and in 1449 he was called to Parliament as a member for London. Three years later, he was appointed as an alderman for Castle Baynard in London. In 1451, Geoffrey was able to loan King Henry VI £1,246 13s. 4d. for an expedition to France, on the understanding that it would be paid back in 1453.
14

 Then, in 1452, Geoffrey began negotiations with Sir John Fastolf to purchase Blickling Manor in Norfolk, although there was wrangling for a time over the purchase and its conditions.
15

 He then set about adding to it and turning it into the ancestral seat of the Boleyn family. Either Geoffrey extended the manor Fastolf sold him, or created an entirely new build, as it was noted that “Syr Geffrey builded a fair house of brike”.
16



Back in London, Geoffrey became master of the Mercers’ Company in 1454, and then, in 1457, he was made Lord Mayor of London and knighted. His time as mayor coincided with the civil war now known as the Wars of the Roses, and as mayor, he was tasked with organising a force to keep order in London and being vigilant for any signs of disorder.

Geoffrey served one term as mayor, and in May 1462, on the Pardon Roll, he appeared as “alderman of London, alias merchant, alias tenant of the manors of Lord Saye and Sele, alias late sheriff, alias late mayor, alias tenant of the lands of Sir Thomas Hoo, deceased, alias Geoffrey Boleyn and Anne his wife, da. and coh. of Thomas Hoo, lord Hoo and Hastings.”
17

 By 1460, he owned the Norfolk manors of Stivekey, Poswick and Little Carbrook, and had also purchased Kemsing and Sele in Kent.
18

 Then, in 1462, Geoffrey and his brother Thomas acquired lands in Kent, which included the manor of Hever, of which Geoffrey took ownership.
19



Perhaps the brothers took a day out to ride to the vast Kentish estate they intended to purchase together. They may have gazed upon the quaint white castle of Hever Cobham, rising from the river-fed moat, and it could have been at this point that Geoffrey earmarked the castle for his own. Indeed, Geoffrey would buy out his brother from the syndicate and take ownership of the manors of Hever.

[image: Arch to the screens passage today]



The original door to the screens passage, with trefoils on the spandrels



The story goes that Geoffrey Boleyn cleverly inserted a manor house between the crenellated walls of the earlier Hever Castle. Eric Ives named Geoffrey the builder of the house.
20

 However, although it is likely that it was Geoffrey who completed a substantial amount of work on the original medieval great hall, he had only three years in which to complete any desired renovations and therefore did little to change the fundamental structure of the medieval house that survives today. One of the most evocative visual remnants of the original house is the archway to the screens passage, which visitors to Hever Castle can still see.

Geoffrey partitioned off the westernmost bay of the medieval great hall to create a more private reception room or parlour. The screen that facilitated this partition was beautifully decorated by green men - or foliate heads - which can often be found amongst the earliest symbols in Norman buildings and medieval churches and are believed to symbolise fertility. A door was added to the north side of this screen, and a fireplace built to heat this smaller parlour, with a vast oriel window for light. A side fireplace was added to the great hall, which meant that the medieval smoke hole, previously in the centre of the magnificent crown post roof, could be sealed. This made for a far more comfortable room, which had also been made considerably lighter by the addition of three windows on the north wall. This considerably added to the light - the hall having previously been lit by those windows situated to the south, facing the castle’s courtyard.

[image: The great hall]



The great hall



Geoffrey didn’t have much time to enjoy his new manor, for he died on 17th
 June 1463 and was buried in the Church of St Laurence, Jewry, London, which was unfortunately destroyed in the Great Fire of 1666. He died a wealthy man, owning manors, lands and tenements in Kent, Middlesex, Norfolk, Surrey, and Sussex. Geoffrey had provided well for his wife and their five children: Alice, who married Sir John Fortescue; Isabel, who married William Cheyney; Anne, who married Sir Henry Heydon of Baconsthorpe; Thomas (born c.1445), who was unmarried; and William (born c.1448). Geoffrey’s sons, Thomas and William, were eighteen and fifteen respectively at the time of their father’s death, but Thomas died in April 1471 unmarried and childless, and it was William who was granted his patrimony in March 1473 after he had turned 25, inheriting Hever Castle, among other manors.
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William Boleyn's Arms in Hever Castle’s long gallery



Sometime before 1475, William married Lady Margaret Butler, daughter and co-heir of Thomas Butler, 7th
 Earl of Ormond, of Kilkenny Castle, in Ireland. This was the second great marriage into the nobility for the Boleyns. It was a particularly good match for William as the Butlers had a long history of service to the monarch and Margaret’s father owned land in Ireland and England. The Butlers suffered a fall in favour in the 1460s due to their Lancastrian allegiance, but their fortunes changed for the better when Henry VII came to the throne in 1485. Ormond was appointed chamberlain to Henry’s queen consort, Elizabeth of York, a position in which he also later served Katherine of Aragon.

William Boleyn built a career not in trade, like his father, but at court. William was made a Knight of the Bath during Richard III’s coronation celebrations in 1483 and served as a commissioner of the peace in Norfolk in Richard’s reign. In 1483, John Howard, Duke of Norfolk and Lord Admiral, appointed William as his deputy to help defend the Norfolk and Suffolk coastline.

Then, in Henry VII’s reign, William served on the commission of the peace in Kent, Norfolk, Westminster, Cambridge, East Dereham and Huntingdon. He also served as steward and surveyor of West Thurrock in Essex and was appointed sheriff for Norfolk and Suffolk.
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 In 1492, William was part of a force that included his father-in-law, and that accompanied the king to France, where they laid siege to Boulogne. He was back in England in 1493, and in 1494 was at the royal court celebrating the young Prince Henry, the future Henry VIII, being made Duke of York.
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Hever Castle’s portrait of King Henry VII, 16th
 century.



By the end of 1486, William was even more important and wealthy, having inherited further lands from his mother and maternal grandfather. In 1497, William and his eldest son, Thomas, were part of the king’s army that was victorious over the Cornish rebels at the Battle of Blackheath. Not long after this victory, Thomas Boleyn married Elizabeth Howard, the eldest daughter of Thomas Howard, Earl of Surrey, who would become 2nd
 Duke of Norfolk. The couple settled at the Boleyn estate in Blickling, Norfolk. It was at Blickling Hall that King Henry VII visited the Boleyns while on progress in 1498. Most intriguingly, the details in King Henry VII’s Privy Purse Expenses tell us that the king visited a ‘Mr Bolen’, and not ‘Sir’ William, which, as Lauren Mackay argues, suggests that the king was visiting Thomas Boleyn. It was a great honour to host the monarch while he was on progress, and it would have cost the Boleyns dearly. What this visit signified was that the Boleyns were well and truly on the rise. Thomas Boleyn had secured a third advantageous marriage into the nobility for the Boleyns, and he was increasingly inching closer to the king.
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Thomas Boleyn's Arms in Hever Castle’s long gallery



In a later letter to Thomas Cromwell, Thomas Boleyn wrote of the financial hardship of the early years of his marriage, when Elizabeth brought him “every year a child” and they had just £50 to live on.
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 Thomas’s fortunes improved in 1505 when his father, Sir William Boleyn, died, and Thomas inherited the manors of Blickling, Calthorpe, Wikmere, Mekylberton, Fylby, West Lexham, Possewick and Stiffkey, as well, of course, as Hever Castle. William was laid to rest in Norfolk Cathedral.

In truth, we have little evidence about Thomas and Elizabeth’s day-to-day lives in these early years at Hever, although we can explore other kinds of evidence to reconstruct what their lives at the castle were probably like. It has even been disputed that Thomas used Hever much in the years before Anne Boleyn’s rise, after which we can be far more certain that Thomas, Elizabeth, Anne, George, and George’s wife Jane, were frequently in residence there. However, Thomas himself stated in 1538, in relation to a crime in Kent, that in the “…33 years” he had resided in Kent, he had known of no comparable act committed by his folk, suggesting that he had based himself in Kent from 1505.
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 Earlier correspondence in 1517 referred to Thomas as “Sir Th. Boleyn of Hever, Kent”, and in 1523, he would again be referred to as “dwelling in Kent.”
24

 We have good evidence, too, that Thomas was a good steward to the Weald and took his stewardship of Penshurst seriously, overseeing the restoration of Tonbridge Castle and the reroofing of Penshurst Place.
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Hever was situated at the epicentre of the social worlds of the Boleyns, and the evidence points to Thomas and Elizabeth’s family often frequenting the property. It was their closest property to London. Geoffrey Boleyn had created a family seat for the Boleyns at Blickling Manor. Thomas Boleyn made Hever the Boleyn family headquarters.





The Boleyns and their Children

(1505-1521)
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On the Rise


W
 hile Blickling
 remained the ancestral seat of the Boleyns, Hever emerged as the family home. By the time Thomas and Elizabeth settled with their young family in Kent, Thomas was well on the rise. The royal visit to Blickling had been an honour, albeit an expensive one, but it signified the beginnings of a career serving the Tudor kings.
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 Thomas may well have been with his father, William, who was chosen to be part of the entourage led by Henry, Duke of York, the future Henry VIII, to receive Katherine of Aragon on her arrival in England in 1501. We can be sure that Thomas was present when Katherine married Prince Arthur by proxy a couple of weeks later.
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The arms of Thomas Boleyn, held in Hever’s archive



One of Hever Castle’s current treasures is an easel painting of Prince Arthur commissioned by King Henry VII for Arthur’s new bride, Katherine, as an engagement token. It remained in Katherine’s possession and consequently was inherited by King Henry VIII. Arthur is depicted in princely, bejewelled attire and is holding a gillyflower (carnation), a token of betrothal. It is believed to be the only extant portrait of Arthur made in his lifetime, and it is an earlier example of a royal portrait than any held in the National Portrait Gallery.
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 Its presence at Hever Castle is particularly pertinent because Arthur died suddenly on 2nd
 April 1502. Henry VII’s ‘spare’, Prince Henry, would take the throne in Arthur’s place. Had Arthur survived, life would have been radically different for the Boleyn family. It is doubtful that the conditions in which the seismic events that facilitated the Boleyn’s path to the throne would have existed had Arthur lived.
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Hever Castle’s portrait of Prince Arthur



Two years later, Thomas was part of Margaret Tudor’s escort for her journey to Scotland to marry King James IV in 1503.
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 In the records for Henry VII’s funeral in 1509, Thomas Boleyn is mentioned as an esquire of the body, and he continued serving the new seventeen-year-old king, Henry VIII, in that position.
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 Thomas and Elizabeth were honoured with privileged positions at Henry VIII’s coronation celebrations in June 1509. Thomas was created a Knight of the Bath at the Tower of London’s ancient bathing ceremony, and Elizabeth was appointed to serve the new queen, Katherine of Aragon, as one of the baronesses of the queen’s chamber for her coronation.
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 Then, just over a month later, Thomas was appointed keeper of the Foreign Exchange in England and keeper of the Exchange in Calais.
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 He also served as sheriff for Norfolk and Suffolk for that year and the next, suggesting a considerable amount of movement for Thomas between his properties. With Elizabeth at court and Thomas between estates, it is possible that the Boleyn children were being educated at Hever.

Thomas was clearly a man the new king liked to have around him, for he was one of those who accompanied the king dressed as outlaws when Henry decided to surprise his queen and her ladies. The surprise was followed by dancing and entertainment.
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 The language of courtly love, speaking to notions of chivalry, was obviously a skill in which Thomas was fully conversant, and it was a skill that would be taught to his children. Thomas was also an active jouster and was one of those listed as taking part in the famous Westminster Tournament Challenge that celebrated the birth of Henry, Duke of Cornwall, son of King Henry VIII, in 1511. Sadly, the infant only lived for fifty-two days, and Thomas served as a chief mourner and knight bearer at the funeral.
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 This loss was a devastating blow for Queen Katherine, and it would be the first of many tragic losses for her.





The Boleyn Children
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‘Anne Boleyn’s Bedroom’ today




T
 homas and
 Elizabeth Boleyn had five children. Mary was likely the eldest, born c.1499/1500, and Anne followed in c.1501. George, Thomas Boleyn’s eventual heir, was born c. 1504. Thomas and Henry Boleyn’s birth dates are far less clear, but they likely died in childhood, for they do not feature in the historical record. They are buried at Penshurst and Hever, respectively. The younger Thomas Boleyn’s burial at Penshurst may suggest that he had been boarded out to the superior property to share a tutor, for Penshurst was then owned by the Duke of Buckingham, whose son Henry had been born in 1501, though this is conjecture. It would be next to Henry Boleyn, his lost son, that Thomas would be laid to rest many years later. Although Mary, Anne and George were probably born at Blickling, Hever is the property they would have called home, and they would have received their early education there.

The first room in the Boleyns’ Solar - the family apartments on the first floor at Hever Castle - has a long tradition of being Anne Boleyn’s bedroom. In Hever’s archive are references to this space being traditionally the bedchamber of Anne dating back to the late seventeenth and early eighteenth centuries. It is possible that Anne Boleyn shared this small space with her sister Mary and perhaps a governess. It is also likely that as young children, the Boleyns all bedded down together on truckle beds in the great chamber, for this was a multifunctional space that could easily be adapted throughout the day with the shifting of furniture. It is likely that it was in this space that Elizabeth Boleyn oversaw the beginnings of her children’s education, and we know from later correspondence from Anne to her father Thomas that he was also playing an active role in her education during these formative years. There were also rooms for the growing children in the castle’s keep, which the offset gatehouse had made a comfortable size.

It appears that Thomas Boleyn shared Thomas More’s views that daughters should be educated in the same way as sons, proper ‘learning’, rather than simply focusing on virtue and domestic skills, so Anne, and her sister Mary, may well have been educated with their brother. George could speak Latin and Italian, and French, so Anne probably had some grounding in those languages. This was not a typical education for girls to receive, and it appears that Anne Boleyn flourished. Our only surviving piece of evidence from Mary, a letter, shows her to be assured and erudite. Thomas’s own successes came from the skills he had learned and the opportunities afforded to him, and it very much appears that Thomas ensured that his children had the very best possible start in life.
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Hever Castle’s portrait of Anne Boleyn, after Holbein, 18th
 century
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Hever Castle’s portrait of Mary Boleyn, after Holbein, 18th
 century



Thomas’s closeness to the king and the good service he had provided was recognised in the number of grants and offices he received in 1511 and 1512, including the keepership of a Nottinghamshire park and several manors in the counties of Essex, Hertfordshire, Surrey and Kent. With his neighbour, Henry Wyatt, he was granted the office of constable and keeper of the castle and gaol of Norwich. He was also granted one half of the custody of the lands, wardship and marriage of John, son and heir of Sir George Hastings. He was also reconfirmed and granted in survivorship, with his wife, Elizabeth, the manor of Wykmer in Norfolk. 
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Prized Opportunities


T
 homas was
 an intelligent man with a gift for languages. This gift, combined with his skills in diplomacy and his position as a royal favourite, led to him being sent with John Young and Sir Robert Wingfield to the court of Margaret of Austria in 1512 and 1513 to conclude an alliance between England and Margaret’s father, Maximilian I, the Holy Roman Emperor, against France.
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 Thomas made quite an impression on Margaret, and they became so friendly that they had a wager on how long the negotiations would take. Thomas’s talent and speed at negotiating, which he managed in ten days, led to him winning the wager and earning himself Margaret’s Spanish courser.
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 His good relationship with Margaret also led to him securing a place for his daughter, Anne, at her court. A place at Margaret’s court was highly sought after by royal and noble families in Europe, so this showed just how much Margaret respected Thomas and how much Thomas valued his daughter’s education.
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 It was a bold move from Thomas, and it gave Anne immense opportunity.

Anne left England for Margaret’s court at Mechelen in the summer of 1513. Belgian historian, Ghislain de Boom, described Margaret’s palace as “un école d’éducation princière et un centre de haute civilisation” (“a princely school and a centre of high culture/advanced civilisation”), so it was a wonderful opportunity for Anne, and she was appointed a tutor to help her improve her French.
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 Our first glimpse of Anne Boleyn’s voice comes in the form of a letter that Anne sent to her father, possibly to Hever Castle. It shows Anne to be engaged in learning and full of gratitude for the opportunities that Thomas had secured for her. Concerned that her father would disapprove of errors in her French, she assures him that the letter is of her own autography and that she wished to perfect the skills ‘enjoyed’ upon her by Thomas.
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 The letter is a remarkable survival, for the few surviving letters written by Anne are from a later period, her time as the king’s sweetheart and her queenship. Historian Lauren MacKay has suggested that the letter’s survival may indicate that it was a treasured possession of Thomas. It certainly adds weight to the understanding that Anne and Thomas were close and that she was flourishing because of the opportunities he had achieved for her.
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Hever Castle’s copy of a letter from Thomas Boleyn to Margaret of Austria.Hever Castle’s Wedding Tapestry, c.1525.



Back in England, 1514 saw more rewards for Thomas. By this time, Thomas owned, or had been granted, the controlling interest in around twenty manors, and he was the keeper of various other estates, as well as being keeper of the Exchange at Calais and the Foreign Exchange in all English ports. He was a wealthy and important man.
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In 1514, Thomas was also able to secure places for both of his daughters as maids of honour to eighteen-year-old Mary Tudor, King Henry VIII’s sister, who was travelling to France to marry fifty-two-year-old King Louis XII. Thomas wrote to Margaret of Austria in August 1514 explaining the situation and asking her to release Anne and send her back to England with a chaperone. It seems likely that Mary Boleyn travelled with the princess to France, but Anne met them in France as she did not have enough time to get to England.
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 The French king died on 1st
 January 1515, and King Francis I inherited the throne. Mary Tudor married Charles Brandon, Duke of Suffolk, secretly in France before the couple headed back to England. It appears that Mary Boleyn travelled back to England with her royal mistress, but Anne was appointed to serve Francis I’s wife, Queen Claude, as one of her maids of honour.
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Hever Castle’s Wedding Tapestry, c.1525.



At the French court, Anne Boleyn’s love of art, architecture and illuminated manuscripts grew. As Olivia Longueville’s research has demonstrated, Anne grew up in a young and vibrant court, Queen Claude being but sixteen years of age when Anne entered her service. Anne was exposed to exquisite religious manuscripts, privy performances of music and court festivities. It is also highly probable that Anne experienced the works of Leonard da Vinci, who had been employed to provide decorations for the dauphin’s christening in 1516.
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 Anne was situated at the very heart of the Renaissance culture with which King Henry VIII strove to imbue his court. She adopted the freer and more flattering French fashions, although a commonplace myth suggests that Anne introduced the French Hood to the English court when we have sound evidence for its use beforehand. Similarly, it is maintained that Anne wore only the French fashions when we know she also wore the English ones. There was far more to Anne’s ‘Je ne sais quoi’ than the cut of her hood. Anne was different because of the exposure she had gained to different ideas and new ways of thinking. She was fiercely intelligent, and even her opponents were captivated by what she had to say. To Henry, Anne had been moulded into the quintessence of the image he was determined to project for himself.

Thomas Boleyn had set about introducing his son George to the English court. The first mention of George at the royal court is at Christmas and New Year 1514/1515, when he and his father participated in a mummery, and he was appointed as a page shortly after.
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 George was entering court as his father had done, and he would benefit from the many skills of court etiquette and diplomacy in which Thomas excelled.

In 1516, Thomas attended the christening of Henry VIII’s daughter, Mary, and acted as a canopy bearer.
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 Then, in 1517, he was entrusted with looking after the king’s eldest sister, Queen Margaret of Scotland, the woman he’d escorted to Scotland fourteen years previously, on her visit to England. Margaret stayed for forty days, and during that time, Thomas acted as her official carver.
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 By 1518, Thomas was a member of the privy council and a respected ambassador, being involved in Cardinal Wolsey’s negotiations for the Treaty of Universal Peace. Thomas was said to be the best French speaker at court, and this, plus his talent for diplomacy, led to him being appointed as the English ambassador to the French court. While he was in France, Thomas became close to the royal family. In 1519, he was taken to see the pregnant Queen Claude by the French king’s mother, Louise of Savoy. Then at the subsequent christening of Henry, Duke of Orléans, Thomas sponsored the French king’s infant son in the name of Henry VIII, presenting to Queen Claude a salt from the English king.
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Miniatures of King Francis I, Marguerite of Angoulême and Queen Claude, 18th
 century.







Gold and Glory
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The castle keep




T
 homas returned
 to England in 1520 and was appointed comptroller of the household. But he was soon back in France to help plan and attend the historic Field of Cloth of Gold meeting between Henry VIII and Francis I in June 1520. Thomas was chosen as one of forty select members of government, nobility and church who rode with the king to his first meeting with his French counterpart. In addition, Thomas’s wife, Elizabeth, and daughter, Mary, who was married to William Carey, a member of the king’s privy chamber, were chosen to attend Queen Katherine. Both Thomas and Elizabeth took attendants to France, and it is likely that their son, George, was among them, and Anne would have been present serving Queen Claude.
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 It was a historic summit and a jubilant Boleyn reunion.

By May 1521, Thomas was treasurer of the household, and he was also appointed to the special commission of oyer and terminer that tried his neighbour, Edward Stafford, Duke of Buckingham. Following Buckingham’s fall and execution, Thomas was granted manors in Kent that had belonged to the duke, including the manor and park of Penshurst, just a stone’s throw from Hever.
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 He’d also recently been granted manors in Oxfordshire and Essex, so he now owned around two dozen manors. The systems of court power that Thomas was operating within could be brutal, and the blade had swung close to Hever when Buckingham had fallen. However, as Thomas’s subsequent good fortune attested, power was generally gained from the downfalls of those once close to the king.

In 1521, Thomas accompanied Cardinal Wolsey to meet his old friend, Margaret of Austria, under the pretence of mediating between France and the Empire. The real purpose of the visit was to secure an alliance between England and the Empire, so this was a critical and sensitive diplomatic mission and showed just how much faith Wolsey and the king had in Thomas. With such a trusted position, it is important to stress that this stream of success on Thomas’s part demonstrates that Thomas had already achieved status and wealth for his family through his own competence long before Anne Boleyn arrived at Henry VIII’s court.

In 1520, negotiations began for a marriage between Thomas’s daughter, Anne, and James Butler, son of Sir Piers Butler of Ireland. This marriage match would settle a dispute between Piers and Thomas, Thomas’s mother and aunt, over the earldom of Ormond, a dispute that had started with the death of Thomas’s maternal grandfather, Thomas Butler, 7th
 Earl of Ormond, in August 1515. The earl had no direct male heirs, but he left two daughters, Anne St Leger and Margaret Boleyn, and the Ormond title was entailed to heirs general, not just male heirs. However, while the earl had been at his estates in England, his Irish estates had been managed by his cousin, Sir James Butler, who came to regard the estates as his own. After his death and that of the earl, James’s son, Piers, laid claim to the title and estate. He had the backing of the Irish lords and people, but Thomas Boleyn put forward his claim to the title and lands, and he had the backing of King Henry VIII. A solution needed to be found to keep the Boleyns and St. Legers happy, but also to keep the peace in Ireland, and Piers could help the English government control the troublesome Irish factions.

It is unclear who came up with the marriage idea, but correspondence between Thomas’s brother-in-law, the Earl of Surrey, and the king suggests that it may have been Surrey’s brainwave.
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 A marriage match between Anne Boleyn and James Butler would mean that the earldom of Ormond would pass to James and Anne on Piers’s death and would therefore be in the Boleyn and Butler family. It would, however, mean that Thomas Boleyn would miss out, and it is hard to imagine Thomas being content with that. In late 1521, Anne was recalled from France to join Queen Katherine of Aragon’s household and marry James.
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 Hever Castle was a far cry from the palaces that Anne Boleyn had become accustomed to, and she would go on to know the palaces of England far more intimately still. However, over the next ten years, Anne could often be found at Hever. Indeed, it often acted as her ‘haven’.





Haven

(1521-1533)
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B
 y late
 1521, Anne Boleyn, who had long been immersed in the cultures of the French court, had not seen her home of Hever Castle for nearly seven years. Indeed, the Boleyns were often to be found far from their Kentish family headquarters. The other Boleyn children had also taken flight from their childhood haven. George Boleyn took a permanent position at the royal court in around 1522, the year in which he received a joint grant with his father of offices that had belonged to their late neighbour, the Duke of Buckingham. Two years later, in 1524, George received his first grant in his own right, the Norfolk manor of Grimston, which may have been a wedding, or pre-wedding, present from the king, for George married Jane Parker, daughter of Henry Parker, Lord Morley, around this time.
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 The king himself made up part of Jane’s dowry, and in return for the dowry of 2,000 marks, Thomas Boleyn guaranteed to give his daughter-in-law the rents of several manors, or an annual amount of 100 marks, should George predecease her.
52

 Thus, Henry VIII was investing in the Boleyn family’s good fortune, just as his father had.
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The north elevation of Hever Castle, 18th
 century watercolour



Although George’s marriage was an arranged one and was childless, we do not have any evidence that it was an unhappy one. Several authors and historians have successfully challenged the idea that Jane Boleyn helped bring down the Boleyn siblings in 1536 out of hatred and jealousy.
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George’s new bride likely spent time with Elizabeth Boleyn at Hever Castle after their marriage. It was entirely customary for new brides to spend a period with their mother-in-law to get accustomed to managing their various manors. As George was the Boleyn heir, Hever Castle was destined to become George and Jane’s property upon the death of Thomas and Elizabeth. This was a period of great mobility and prosperity for the Boleyns. The family were centred around the king and queen, making good marriages and reaping the benefits of their achievements. In June 1525, in the same ceremony that the king’s illegitimate son, Henry Fitzroy, was created Earl of Nottingham and Duke of Richmond and Somerset, Thomas Boleyn was created Viscount Rochford. Hever Castle had been the jewel of the portfolio of properties amassed by Thomas’s grandfather. By the time Thomas assumed the title of viscount, he had amassed at least thirty manors and was still very much on the rise.

It was not all plain sailing for the Boleyns, however. George Boleyn lost his position in the privy chamber in Cardinal Wolsey’s purge, the Eltham Ordinances, in 1526. The cardinal was concerned about the influence of the younger privy chamberers on the king, and removed them. George’s compensation was an annual £20 payment and the position of cupbearer to the king.
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 Soon, George would rise once again, and his good fortunes, and bad, were irrevocably linked to those of his sister, Anne.
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Hever Castle’s Portrait of Anne Boleyn, 18th
 century



Anne Boleyn’s first recorded appearance at Henry VIII’s court was in March 1522, when she played Perseverance in the Shrovetide Château Vert pageant alongside her sister, Mary, as Kindness and her soon-to-be sister-in-law, Jane Parker, as Constancy.
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 It was a dazzling debut. Anne, in many ways, embodied the spirit of the Renaissance. Her education, begun at Hever with Thomas and Elizabeth, had developed in the Low Countries and latterly in France. She was equipped with eloquence of mind and manner that captivated many who encountered her. Although one of the reasons for her return was a potential marriage match with James Butler, Anne soon became involved with courtier Henry Percy, a member of Cardinal Wolsey’s household and the son and heir of the Earl of Northumberland. According to George Cavendish, Wolsey’s gentleman usher, Percy would “resort for his pastime unto the queen’s chamber, and there would fall in dalliance among the queen’s ladies, being at the last more conversant with Mistress Anne Boleyn than with any other” and soon “there grew such a secret love between them that, at length, they were ensured together, intending to marry.”
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The king, however, found out about the romance and ordered Wolsey to put an end to it. Wolsey berated Percy for his “peevish folly” and called his father to court. The earl also gave the young man a dressing down.
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 The relationship was subsequently broken off, and Percy was forced to marry Mary Talbot, daughter of the Earl of Shrewsbury. Cavendish recorded that Anne was sent home to Hever Castle, “whereat she smoked” in frustration and nursed her broken heart.

Anne is next linked to poet and diplomat Thomas Wyatt the Elder, whose childhood home, Allington Castle, was not far from Hever. Wyatt had married Elizabeth Brooke in 1521, but it was an unhappy marriage. In his book on Anne Boleyn, Wyatt’s grandson, George Wyatt, wrote of how his grandfather fell in love with Anne, and Wyatt’s poetry supports this claim.
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 There’s no evidence, however, that his feelings were returned, and his poem “Whoso list to hunt” suggests that Wyatt withdrew his pursuit of Anne when King Henry VIII came into the picture.

We do not know when Henry VIII became attracted to his wife’s maid of honour, just that it was between 1524 and 1526. It coincided with the king’s growing belief that his marriage to Katherine of Aragon was contrary to God’s law, and that’s why God was not blessing them with a surviving son. The king wrote Anne at least seventeen love letters between 1526 and 1528, and he used George Boleyn as a courier on at least one occasion, giving him further verbal messages to pass on to Anne.
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 It is clear from these letters that Henry was the aggressor. Anne left his first letters unanswered. She rebuffed him, even leaving court and retreating to Hever.

Karen Lindsey has gone as far as to depict Anne Boleyn as a victim of sexual harassment, basing this idea on Wyatt’s work:

“Whoso list to hunt, I know where is an hind,

But as for me, hélas, I may no more.

The vain travail hath wearied me so sore,

I am of them that farthest cometh behind.

Yet may I by no means my wearied mind

Draw from the deer, but as she fleeth afore

Fainting I follow. I leave off therefore,

Since in a net I seek to hold the wind.

Who list her hunt, I put him out of doubt,

As well as I may spend his time in vain.

And graven with diamonds in letters plain

There is written, her fair neck round about:

Noli me tangere, for Caesar’s I am,

And wild for to hold, though I seem tame.”

In this poem, which is based on Petrarch’s “Una Candida Cerva”, Wyatt starts with a challenge, telling those who want to hunt that he knows the location of a hind. Still, he goes on to say that he is weary of the chase and that his hunt failed, that Caesar claimed the hind: “Noli me tangere [don’t touch me],” says the hind, “for I am Caesar’s. This “wild to hold” hind can’t be Wyatt’s, she doesn’t belong to him. It is thought that this poem is about Wyatt’s feelings for Anne Boleyn, and, in an article in The Guardian
 , Carol Rumens writes:

“But this is still a love-poem, and nowhere more obviously than in that final, para-rhymed couplet, where, having quoted the injunction, Noli me tangere, the hind describes herself as “wild for to hold”. This instantly transports us to a hinterland of erotic excitement, and registers the extent of the poet’s loss and hurt, now that the King has claimed Wyatt’s deer as his own.”
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It is a poem about lost love, but is Wyatt saying something even more by depicting Anne Boleyn as a hind? Is he seeing her as a quarry hunted down by the king, ensnared by him and becoming his whether she liked it or not? Being owned by him, even labelled by him as his possession? Perhaps that’s reading too much into it, but Lindsey certainly sees Anne as Henry’s victim, noting: “Today, Henry’s approach to Anne would be instantly identifiable as sexual harassment. Anne, however, had no social or legal recourse against the man who ruled the country. She continued, as so many women before and since have done, to dodge her pursuer’s advances while sparing his feelings. It didn’t work… It was a hellish position […] To offer him the outright insult he asked for would be to risk not only her own but her father’s and brother’s careers at court.” She points out that like the hind in Wyatt’s poem, “Anne was a creature being hunted, and hunted by the king — like the buck he had killed and so proudly sent to her. There could be no refuge from the royal assault; no one would risk protecting her from Henry’s chase. She could run, hide, dodge for a time, but the royal hunter would eventually track down his prey. And he would destroy her. The hunt was not an archaic metaphor in sixteenth century life, it was a vivid integral part of that life and everyone knew what happened to the wild creature at the end.”
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Hever Castle’s portrait of King Henry VIII, after Joos van Cleve, c.1535



Like any young Tudor woman, Anne knew the importance of keeping her virginity to make a good marriage match, and she was unwilling to be a king’s mistress, even an official and recognised mistress, his maîtresse-en-titre
 . It is clear from the king’s responses to Anne that she was offended by his suggestions, and he had to work hard to win her over. As Eric Ives has pointed out, Anne’s refusal should have been the point at which the relationship “withered”, when Henry could so easily have moved on to an easier conquest. Still, Henry’s letters show “the king’s realisation that he could not live without Anne, and therefore she, rather than some foreign princess, would have to be the wife to replace Katherine.”
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Henry would not take no for an answer, and during the Christmas of 1526, Anne Boleyn and her family were back at Hever Castle for the festivities. Anne had either fallen for the king’s charms or been worn down by his constant pursuit.
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 Perhaps Anne’s presence at Hever could be explained by a desire on her part to ensure that an absence from the king would make his heart grow fonder. Perhaps she needed some respite from the endless gossip and discomfort at court. Lost to history are the many unequalled conversations had at Hever that Christmastide, for King Henry VIII had offered the unthinkable to Anne: his hand in marriage and the crown. At some point during that Christmas at Hever Castle, Anne made her decision. It is difficult to imagine a more consequential one.

Anne sent Henry a love token to symbolise her submission. The king wrote to her, saying “I thank you most cordially, not only on account of the fine diamond and the ship in which the solitary damsel is tossed about, but chiefly for the fine interpretation and the too humble submission which your goodness hath used towards me in this case.” As Eric Ives has noted, “For centuries the ship had been a symbol of protection - the ark which rescued Noah from the destroying deluge; the diamond - as the Roman de la Rose had said - spoke of a ‘heart as hard as diamond, steadfast and nothing pliant’. Anne was saying ‘yes’.” The gold and diamonds told Henry that Anne was prepared to brave the stormy waters ahead and voyage into the unknown, into the impossible. Everything changed for the Boleyns of Hever when Anne said ‘yes’ to the king. A few months later, the king applied for a dispensation to marry her.
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Hever Castle’s best bedchamber today



A dispensation was necessary to cover the impediment of affinity, for at some point after she had returned with Mary Tudor from France in 1515, Mary Boleyn had become King Henry VIII’s mistress. Although some historians date their affair to 1522, when Henry VIII rode out at the Shrovetide joust with the motto “Elle mon Coeur a navera
 ”, or “She has wounded my Heart”, embroidered on his horse’s trappings, there is no evidence to link this to Mary. If their relationship worked like his affair with Elizabeth Blount, he slept with Mary and then arranged a good marriage match for her. Mary married William Carey, a member of the king’s privy chamber, an esquire of the body, and a man related to the king, in February 1520, in a ceremony attended by the king.
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 The couple had two children, Catherine, born c.1524, and Henry, born in 1526.

By 1527, the year that Anne accepted the king’s marriage proposal, Thomas Boleyn had become one of the wealthiest men in England. In an assessment of the subsidy on lands, the average peer was found to be worth £300-600, while Thomas was worth £800.
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 This was a huge amount and showed his importance and the esteem in which the king held him. He had carried out many important duties and successful embassies, and from 1527 he would be busy travelling on more diplomatic missions. However, these embassies would be closer to home in their mission; they were connected with the Great Matter, the king’s quest for an annulment so that he could marry Thomas’s daughter. Thomas carried these out to the best of his ability, but it does appear that he was initially against the idea of Anne marrying the king.
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Thomas and Elizabeth welcomed Anne back home at Hever for Christmas and New Year 1527/8. Anne may have been the king’s fiancée, but Katherine of Aragon was still his official queen and, with her husband, presided over the entertainments of the Twelve Days of Christmas as such. Anne was still at Hever in February 1528, when she acted as host to diplomats Stephen Gardiner and Edward Fox, who were making their way to see the pope. In a letter to Anne, the king explained that the two men were “dispatched with as many things to compasse our matter, and to bring it to passe, as our wits could imagine or devise”, commenting that he hoped he and Anne would shortly have their “desired end”.
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 Anne had returned to court by the ambassadors’ return in May, and she and the king were happy with their progress.
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Anne Boleyn’s Book of Hours, c.1528
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Detail from Anne Boleyn's Book of Hours



On 16th
 June 1528, Anne was still at court when one of her maids caught sweating sickness, an illness that could kill in hours. Panic ensued. The royal court broke up, and Henry VIII and Katherine of Aragon fled London to Waltham Abbey, with George accompanying them as cupbearer. Meanwhile, Anne tried to escape the illness by making her way home to Hever. Unfortunately, George was taken ill at Waltham, and Anne and Thomas, who had already been at Hever, came down with the sweat. A panicked Henry VIII wrote to his fiancée, assuring her that he would send one of his physicians, Dr William Butts, to treat her:

“There came to me in the night the most afflicting news possible. For I have reason to grieve upon three accounts. First, because I heard of the sickness of my mistress, whom I esteem more than all the world, whose health I desire as much as my own, and the half of whose sickness I would willingly bear to have her cured. Secondly, Because I fear I shall suffer yet longer that tedious absence, which has hitherto given me all possible uneasiness, and, as far as I can judge, is like to give me more. I pray God he would deliver me from so troublesome a tormentor. The third reason is, because the physician, in whom I trust most, is absent at present, when he could do me the greatest pleasure. For I should hope by him, and his means, to obtain one of my principal joys in this world, that is, my mistress cured; however, in default of him, I send you the second, and the only one left, praying God that he may soon make you well, and then I shall love him more than ever. I beseech you to be governed by his advices with relation to your illness; by your doing which I hope shortly to see you again, which will be to me a greater cordial than all the precious stones in the world.

Written by the secretary who is, and always will be,

Your loyal and most assured Servant,

H. (A B) R.”
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The outbreak was severe. At the end of June 1528, Jean du Bellay recorded that 2,000 people had died in London and wrote of how he had “sweated” at the Archbishop of Canterbury’s house in Lambeth, and, while he was ill there, eighteen members of the archbishop’s household had died in only four hours. Fortunately, George, Anne and Thomas Boleyn recovered from the illness, but Mary Boleyn’s husband, William Carey, died.
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 Mary was left in near poverty after her husband’s death due to Carey’s grants and offices reverting to the Crown. It appears that there had been a family breakdown between Mary and her parents, for the king himself had to intercede on Mary’s behalf to obtain her father’s help. Anne was able to help her sister, and Mary’s two-year-old son, Henry, was made Anne’s ward. Anne secured the service of French scholar and reformer Nicholas Bourbon to tutor the young boy, and in December 1528, the king assigned Mary an annuity of £100 (£32,000), which had once been paid to her husband.

Mary might have been in the Boleyns’ bad books, but George was busy making them proud. After he had recovered from sweating sickness, George continued in his service to the king. He was appointed Master of the Buckhounds and an esquire of the body. In late 1528, George was made keeper of the Palace of Beaulieu, and just two months later, chief steward of the palace.
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Following her illness, Anne planned initially to return to court with her mother towards the end of July. However, there is no mention of her father planning to accompany them, so perhaps he was still recovering. In the end, Thomas moved to Penshurst before returning to court, and Anne didn’t return to London until the end of August. It was to be a short-lived return for Anne was sent back to Hever in September 1528 due to the imminent arrival of the papal legate, Cardinal Lorenzo Campeggio, who was being sent to England to hear the king’s case for an annulment of his marriage. The king wanted Campeggio and the pope to believe that his conscience was troubled regarding his marriage, and he didn’t want it to look as if he only wanted out of it so that he could marry Anne. His sweetheart was sent home, and he played man and wife with Katherine. Unfortunately, things didn’t go to plan with Campeggio’s visit. A special legatine court opened at Blackfriars in May 1529, presided over by Campeggio as legate and Cardinal Thomas Wolsey as the pope’s vicegerent. However, it adjourned without making any ruling in July 1529, never to sit again. It was a huge blow for the king and the Boleyns.

Again and again, Hever played the role of Anne Boleyn’s place of haven. As the Boleyns’ impressive portfolio of manor houses grew, Hever retained a special place in the family’s affections. It was compact enough to house Elizabeth and the children in their formative years, just large enough for the family. Now, the modest proportions of Hever proved to be beneficial in that they provided sanctuary and secrecy. Anne could place herself at Hever for weeks or months, and the limited capacity for visitors meant that she could close ranks during one of the most turbulent periods of her life. Hever became not only her private sanctuary and her place of quarantine, but it acted as Anne’s safety valve.

1529 was a good year in many respects for the Boleyns, though. The failure of the legatine court led to Wolsey being vulnerable to his enemies, men like the Dukes of Norfolk and Suffolk, Sir Thomas More, and the Boleyns, who were now convinced that Wolsey was not working for the annulment and was simply stalling. Wolsey fell from power and was replaced by Sir Thomas More. George Boleyn benefited from the cardinal’s fall when he was granted annuities from his estates.

In late 1529, Anne’s mother, Elizabeth, was at court with her daughter, playing chaperone. Chapuys records that Elizabeth accompanied Anne and the king to view York Place in October 1529, after Cardinal Wolsey had fallen from favour and the king had taken the palace: “The downfall of the Cardinal is complete. He is dismissed from the Council, deprived of the Chancellorship, and constrained to make an inventory of his goods in his own hand, that nothing may be forgotten. It is said that he has acknowledged his faults, and presented all his effects to the King. Yesterday the King returned to Greenwich by water secretly, in order to see them, and found them much greater than he expected. He took with him “sa mye” (his darling—Anne Boleyn), her mother, and a gentleman of his chamber (Norris?).” Elizabeth and Anne then made York Place their base, lodging in the chamber under the cardinal’s former library.
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The Arms of Thomas Boleyn as Earl of Wiltshire and Ormond in Hever’s long gallery.



1529 saw the opening of the Reformation Parliament, the beginning of the break with Rome, and further rewards for the Boleyns. George was restored to the king’s privy chamber, this time as a gentleman. He was also knighted and appointed governor of St Bethlehem Hospital.
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 In December 1529, Thomas Boleyn was granted the earldoms of Wiltshire and Ormond while George became Lord Rochford. Then, in January 1530, Thomas was made keeper of the privy seal, and the Boleyn men were sent on embassy - Thomas to Bologna to plead the king’s case for an annulment to the pope and Emperor Charles V, and George to Paris to collect the opinions of learned theologians on the king’s situation.
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 Thomas’s mission was a failure, but martyrologist John Foxe tells an amusing story about this mission. According to Foxe, the pope, who was seated under his cloth of estate, stuck out his foot for Thomas and the other diplomats to kiss, when Thomas’s dog, a “great spaniel”, “took fast with his mouth the great toe of the pope”, much to the amusement of the Englishmen present.
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 The failure of his mission, and the treatment he received from the pope and emperor, made Thomas support the idea of a break with Rome all the more.

In June 1530, a deposition signed by the Lords Spiritual and Temporal, which included George Boleyn, was sent to the pope, praying him to consent to the king’s request for an annulment and pointing out the evils that could arise from a delay in granting this request. Henry VIII was still convinced that the pope would eventually grant him his request and that he simply needed to be made aware that the people of England supported it, but the king was wrong.
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The signature of George Boleyn, Viscount Rochford.



In the meantime, Anne Boleyn had been reading Bible translator William Tyndale’s book The Obedience of a Christian Man
 . It was deemed a heretical work and ended up being confiscated from the sweetheart of one of Anne’s ladies by Dr Sampson, Dean of the Chapel Royal, after Cardinal Wolsey had commanded him to keep an eye out for such works of heresy. On hearing of the confiscation from her panicked lady, Anne went to the king to ask him to intervene with Wolsey to get the book returned. When the book was returned to her, Anne took it to the king and “besought his Grace most tenderly to read it.” George Wyatt writes of how she had marked matters “worthy of the King’s knowledge” with her fingernail, and John Strype describes how the king was “delighted” with the book. He remarked that “This Book is for me and all Kings to read.” Strype goes on to say:

“And in a little Time the King by the Help of this virtuous Lady, by the Means aforefaid, had his Eyes opened to the Truth, to search the Truth, to advance God’s Religion and Glory, to abhor the Pope’s Doctrine, his Lies, his Pomp and Pride, to deliver his Subjects out of the Egyptian Darkness, the Babylonian Bonds, that the Pope had brought him and his Subjects under. And so contemning the Threats of all the World, the Power of Princes, Rebellions of his Subjects at Home, and the raging of so many and mighty Potentates abroad; set forward a Reformation in Religion, beginning with the Triple Crowned Head at first, and so came down to the Members, Bishops, Abbots, Priors, and such like.”
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Although Tyndale ended up being executed as a heretic during Henry VIII’s reign, his book was instrumental in helping the king see how he could have his marriage to Katherine of Aragon annulled while also limiting the power of the papacy in England. With the pope not playing ball, Henry and his advisors turned to Parliament and Convocation.

In February 1531, Convocation granted the king the title of “singular protector, supreme lord, and even, so far as the law of Christ allows, supreme head of the English church and clergy”, and it was George Boleyn, who played a prominent role in persuading Convocation of the scriptural case for the king’s supremacy. He’d been sent to Convocation to express the king’s growing anti-papal sentiments and Parliament’s arguments for the supremacy, taking several tracts with him. Although Convocation initially baulked at the idea of proclaiming the king head of the church, they were happy when the title was tempered with the words “as far as the law of Christ allows”. This was a big step towards the break with the authority of Rome. A year later, George participated in a meeting with the clergy to demand their submission, and another one to receive their formal submission.
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Hever Castle’s Marriage Plaque.



Things were looking good for the king and Anne now, and a visit was planned for the couple to travel to Calais to meet with King Francis I of France to gain his support for their marriage. But first, Henry VIII wanted to ensure that his fiancée was of sufficient standing for him to introduce to the French king as his betrothed. On 1st
 September 1532, in a ceremony attended by her father at Windsor Castle, Anne was elevated to the peerage. She was created Marquess of Pembroke in her own right and granted lands with an income of over £1,000.
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 Renovation work began on the royal lodgings of the Tower of London, lodgings that tended to be used before a royal coronation, and Katherine of Aragon was stripped of the royal jewels so that they could be given to Anne to wear on the trip to Calais. The royal couple set sail from Dover bound for Calais on 11th
 October, accompanied by an entourage which included Thomas Boleyn and his brothers, Sir James and Sir Edward; George and his wife, Jane, and Mary Boleyn, Lady Carey. Following meetings between the two kings in Boulogne, the two sovereigns arrived back at Calais on 25th
 October, Francis armed with a diamond as a gift for Anne. Anne played host to the French king at a lavish masquerade and banquet on the 27th
 , a celebration of the kings’ good relationship and Francis’s approval for Henry and Anne’s marriage plans.
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 The trip couldn’t have been more successful and, according to chronicler Edward Hall, on their return to England, on 14th
 November 1532, the Feast of St Erkenwald, Henry and Anne were married.
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The Thousand Days

(1533-1540)
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H
 enry and
 Anne were not in any hurry to journey back to London following their secret marriage, with the king deciding to spend a few days in Dover and the surrounding area “for the purpose of having harbours constructed in the said town, or at least of creating a specious plea for asking money from his subjects for the said works”. They eventually arrived at Eltham Palace on 24th
 November,
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 and it was from that point that the couple began co-habiting.
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Hever Castle’s ‘Rose’ portrait of Anne Boleyn, 16th
 Century



On the Feast of the Conversion of St Paul, 25th
 January 1533, the couple underwent another secret marriage. Soon to be Bishop of Coventry and Lichfield, Rowland Lee, officiated at the ceremony at Whitehall, formerly York Place, the property the couple had refurbished following the fall of its previous owner, Cardinal Wolsey. Nicholas Harpsfield, the Catholic apologist, writing in Mary I’s reign, recorded that the king and queen were attended by Henry Norris and Thomas Heneage, of the king’s privy chamber, and Anne Savage, Lady Berkeley. Eustace Chapuys, reporting on the marriage a month later, recorded wrongly that Thomas Cranmer had officiated and went on to say that the royal couple married “in the presence only of her father, mother, brother, and two intimate female friends of the Lady herself, besides a priest of the diocese of Canterbury”.
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According to Harpsfield, although the king’s marriage to Katherine of Aragon had not yet been annulled, Henry assured Rowland Lee that “he had gotten of the Pope a lycence to marry another wife”. When Lee asked to see the licence on the day of the marriage, the king said he had one, “but it is reposed in another sure[r] place whereto no man resorteth but myself, which, if it were seen, should discharge us all.” Lee either had to take the king at his word or risk upsetting him by asking to see the licence. Lee chose to go ahead with the ceremony.
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Hever Castle’s silver replica of the Marriage Clock gifted by Henry VIII to Anne Boleyn.



Anne may not have been aware at the time of her marriage that she was pregnant, but she soon guessed. Paul Friedmann, citing Chapuys, gives an account of Anne’s behaviour at court on 22nd
 February 1533: “[…] she came out of her apartment into the hall where a large company was assembled. Seeing one of her favourite courtiers (Thomas Wyatt, probably), she abruptly told him that three days ago she had felt such a violent desire to eat apples as she had never felt before, that when she had spoken of it to the king he had said it was a sign that she was with child, but that she had replied it was not. Thereupon she broke into a violent fit of laughter.”
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Friedmann comments that those who heard her concluded that Anne was either married or would be married soon, for they obviously had not yet heard of her wedding. Anne had also been reported as telling her uncle, the Duke of Norfolk, “in open court” that she would go on a pilgrimage straight after Easter if she weren’t pregnant soon.
82

 Anne wasn’t concerned about who heard that she was pregnant or trying to be so.

Even though Anne was married to the king, Henry had not yet obtained an annulment of his first marriage, so this needed to be rectified as soon as possible. On 15th
 March 1533, Chapuys reported to the Emperor that “the King has had a chaplain, and the Lady also one of hers, to preach before them that all the time he had lived with his Queen he had been in adultery and sin, and that all his good subjects ought to pray God to forgive him such an offence, and enlighten him so as to take soon another wife” and that this wife could be “of low rank, provided the virtues and secret merits of the person thus chosen should counterbalance her position, as happened in the cases of kings Saul and David.” Of course, Henry had already married Anne.

On 14th
 March, a Bill in Restraint of Appeals was introduced in the Commons. This bill prohibited appeals to Rome on legal or other matters, and it was this act that began the process of the transfer of authority from Rome to the king when it was subsequently passed. On 30th
 March 1533, Thomas Cranmer, a man patronised by the Boleyns, was consecrated as Archbishop of Canterbury. His first duty was to preside over the Convocation meeting to discuss the validity of Henry VIII’s marriage to Katherine, his brother’s widow. On 5th
 April 1533, Convocation gave its ruling, stating that the pope had no power to dispense in the case of a man marrying his brother’s widow and that it was contrary to God’s law. Katherine of Aragon was informed on 9th
 April that she had been demoted from queen consort to Dowager Princess of Wales, a title that she never recognised.

At the end of March, Anne Boleyn’s royal household was formed, and on 11th
 April 1533, Good Friday, King Henry VIII informed his royal council that Anne Boleyn was now his wife and that they must accord her with royal honours. On Easter Eve, Anne Boleyn attended mass in the Queen’s Closet at Greenwich Palace “with all the pomp of a Queen, clad in cloth of gold, and loaded (carga) with the richest jewels” and attended by sixty ladies.
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The arms of Queen Anne Boleyn in Hever Castle’s long gallery.



Convocation’s ruling on the dispensation was followed by a trial at a special court that opened on 10th
 May 1533 at Dunstable Priory, Bedfordshire, to examine Henry VIII’s case for the annulment of his first marriage. It was presided over by Cranmer, who announced the sentence on 23rd
 May 1533, declaring the marriage to be “against the law of God” and annulling the marriage. On 28th
 May 1533, Cranmer proclaimed the validity of Henry VIII’s marriage to Anne Boleyn after a special inquiry at Lambeth Palace. It was just in time for Anne’s coronation.

The Tower of London had been specially refurbished for Anne’s sojourn before her coronation procession. On 29th
 May 1533, four days of celebrations for Queen Anne Boleyn’s coronation began in earnest with a river pageant on the Thames and ending with a coronation ceremony and banquet on 1st
 June. The six-month-pregnant Anne Boleyn was crowned queen at Westminster Abbey by Archbishop Cranmer. Her brother and uncle were busy on an embassy in France, but her father escorted her to and from the ceremony. Thomas must have watched in amazement as St Edward’s crown, which was normally reserved for the crowning of a monarch, was placed on his daughter’s head. It was a triumphant moment for the Boleyns.

On 26th
 August 1533, at Greenwich Palace, Anne took to her chamber to prepare for the birth of her baby. A healthy daughter, the future Queen Elizabeth I, was born on 7th
 September. George missed the christening on 10th
 September, having returned to France to prevent a meeting between the French king and the pope, but Thomas, the undoubtedly proud grandfather, helped hold the infant princess’s train.

A year which had seen Anne’s marriage to the king, her coronation and the birth of a healthy baby must have been such a blessing to the Boleyns after all those years of frustration, disappointment and waiting. In 1533 and 1534, the Boleyns were at their zenith of power. Thomas was rewarded with further grants, making him the owner of well over 40 manors. George was an established diplomat, carrying out important duties for the king and receiving grants and favours as rewards, such as being made Lord Warden of the Cinque Ports and Constable of Dover Castle.
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In March 1534, Parliament passed the First Act of Succession, declaring Anne’s marriage to the king valid and establishing the line of succession through the line of Henry and Anne’s children. The icing on the cake was that Anne was pregnant again. In July 1534, George was sent to France to reschedule a meeting between the royal couple and the French king due to his sister’s pregnancy, but sadly Anne lost her baby. It must have been a bitter blow for Anne when her sister, Mary, turned up at court in that September visibly pregnant to inform the queen that she had married in secret. The Boleyns were furious with Mary’s deceit. She was banished from court and had to resort to writing to Thomas Cromwell in the hope that he’d intercede with her family.
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In 1535, Thomas Boleyn was involved in the prosecutions of those who opposed the royal supremacy. He served on the commission that tried John Fisher, Bishop of Rochester, was one of those chosen to examine Sir Thomas More, and he and George were on the commission that tried More. They were also present at More’s execution and those of the Carthusian monks of London Charterhouse. However, it was also in 1535 that Thomas appears to have decided to spend less time at court and more time at Hever, while George carried out his sixth and final diplomatic mission to France to negotiate a marriage match between his niece, Princess Elizabeth, and Francis I’s third son. The mission was a failure.
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An Irish ‘harp’ groat with the initials of Henry and Anne



1536 started well for the Boleyns. Anne was pregnant once more, and Thomas and George were delighted by news of the death of Katherine of Aragon on 7th
 January. However, on 26th
 January, the king suffered a jousting accident. It was said that the shock of this, combined with news of the king’s flirtation with Jane Seymour, led to Anne suffering a miscarriage on 29th
 January, losing a son. The miscarriage made Anne vulnerable to her enemies, the Catholic conservatives who supported the Lady Mary, Henry’s daughter by Katherine of Aragon. Anne’s disagreement with Thomas Cromwell over where the money from the dissolution of the monasteries went and her opposition to an alliance with the empire added to this vulnerability. Her husband was also heavily involved with Jane Seymour. According to the Imperial ambassador, Jane was being coached on how to appeal to the king and to tell him how unpopular his marriage to Anne was with the people.
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On 2nd
 May 1536, Anne was arrested at Greenwich Palace, and George was arrested at Whitehall. Anne had been watching a game of tennis when she was summoned before the council and detained in her apartments to await the turning tide. The journey by barge was an eerily familiar one. Barely a thousand days earlier, Anne had been rowed to the Tower of London in triumph for her coronation.
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 Did she remember Henry greeting her as she landed again at the same steps and as she entered the fortress through the Court Gate, now the Byward Postern, where he had once publicly embraced her?
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 It was not the king, but his Lieutenant of the Tower, Sir Edmund Walsingham, who greeted Anne now. We will never know if Anne was aware that she had just made her final journey, but we know that Anne had entreated her chaplain, Matthew Parker, to a certain duty of care for Elizabeth on 26th
 April, six days earlier.
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 Perhaps Anne had read the temperature at court and was aware that the winds were turning against her.

When she encountered Sir William Kingston, the Constable of the Tower, before the royal apartments, Anne asked: “Mr Kingston, shall I go into a dungeon?”, to which Kingston replied: “No, Madam. You shall go into the lodging you lay in at your coronation.” Anne knelt, weeping with the words “it is too g[ood] for me, Jesu have mercy on me”, before falling “into a great laughing”.
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 Anne was unravelling, and her actions over the next few days would prove fatal.

On her arrival at the Tower, Anne spoke of her concern for her mother, who’d recently been at court and who was recorded as being “sore diseased with the cough, which grieves her sore.”
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 Amongst periods of melancholy and despair, Anne also displayed bouts of optimism during her imprisonment. Foremost in her mind, however, had been the question of what she had been accused and why. By allowing Anne to talk and consider if the charges related to certain events and men, the ladies employed to wait upon her could record what was said and convey information to Kingston, who in turn relayed Anne’s words to Cromwell. At some point, the charge of treason was added to the charges of adultery and incest.

On 12th
 May 1536, Thomas Boleyn was a member of the special commission of oyer and terminer that found Sir Henry Norris, Sir Francis Weston, William Brereton and Mark Smeaton guilty of high treason for sleeping with his daughter, the queen, and plotting with her to kill the king.
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 Thomas would have had no choice but to sit in judgement on the men and would have known that the sentence would prejudice the trial of his daughter. Thomas would have recognised that his lone dissenting voice would have paled into significance to the otherwise hostile jury who were keenly aware of their duty to the king in cases of high treason: they were merely acting as signatories to Henry’s orders.

Anne and George were tried separately in the King’s Hall at the Tower of London on 15th
 May 1536. Although they defended themselves admirably, and no witnesses were produced against them, they too were found guilty of high treason and, like the other four, were sentenced to death. Their own uncle, the Duke of Norfolk, pronounced sentence as Lord High Steward, albeit weeping as he said the words.

George Boleyn went to the block with Norris, Weston, Brereton and Smeaton on 17th
 May 1536. Thomas Wyatt, who had also been arrested but not charged, witnessed the carnage on Tower Hill that day from his cell in the Bell Tower. He wrote that: “…these bloody days have broken my heart”. Anne’s execution was postponed on 18th
 May, which brought her grief, but Sir William Kingston reported to Cromwell her composure in her final hours, commenting that “this lady has much joy and pleasure in death.”

Anne’s last walk on the morning of 19th
 May 1536 would have taken her from the queen’s lodgings, past the jewel house, where Henry had introduced her to the royal regalia, and the great hall, where she had dined the night before her coronation and where more recently her uncle had sentenced her to death. Dressed in the English fashion, complete with gable hood, Anne was led to a newly erected scaffold to the north of the White Tower. Draped in black material, it had been built to the specifications decided by Henry in the days after her arrest. Anne’s husband had been particularly concerned by the minutiae of what was to happen to Anne. Standing amongst the officials on the scaffold was a swordsman employed from Calais before Anne had even set foot in a courtroom. After addressing the crowd and paying the executioner, Anne knelt upright on a bed of straw and was blindfolded. She prayed: “O Lord have mercy on me, to God I commend my soul. To Jesus Christ I commend my soul; Lord Jesu receive my soul.” A single cannon fired as Anne’s head was severed from her body with a single stroke of the double-handed sword. The ‘Thousand Days’ were over. The Boleyn siblings were laid to rest in the Chapel of St Peter ad Vincula.
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The Boleyn Arms in Hever’s Great Hall.



The journey that Thomas and Elizabeth took from London, back to their castle of Hever during the last horrific days of Anne’s queenship, was most likely full of grief and fear. There was simply nothing that Thomas and Elizabeth could do to help their children. The law had condemned both siblings and, as their parents left London, they did so with the knowledge that their children would die. Returning to their little family manor would undoubtedly have been a painful affair. The memories of their vibrant children must have been bleeding from the walls of every chamber. Their downfall had happened so swiftly that it is possible that either or both parents were in a state of shock. Surviving today, but hidden from public view, are the original beams of the crown post roof that sat above the Boleyns’ solar at Hever, and it is easy to imagine Thomas gazing into those same wooden beams, bewildered, as the reality of what had happened came crashing home. George had been Thomas’s pride and his only surviving male heir, and Anne had been his joy and had brought greater wealth and power to the Boleyn family than Thomas could possibly have aspired to. Anne’s rise had been unthinkable and her end unspeakable. Thomas had estates to maintain and duties to attend to, but the grief of the loss of his children changed him.

For Thomas, Hever was a place to grieve with his wife, Elizabeth, and his mother, Lady Margaret Boleyn, who had been suffering from some kind of dementia since 1519 and had moved in with the family. In June 1536, Thomas was deprived of his office of Lord Privy Seal in favour of the man who had overseen the case against his children, Thomas Cromwell.
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 In July 1536, Thomas was at Hever when he received letters from Cromwell regarding his widowed daughter-in-law Jane’s financial situation. Thomas claimed that he was ill and explained that his income had been greatly reduced, but he agreed to increase Jane’s allowance and death benefit.
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 Cromwell continued to harass the grieving man over the next year regarding legal subsidies and rents.

Apart from a visit to court in July 1536, when he was present in the Star Chamber at Westminster for “an assay of silver”, Thomas chose to stay at Hever.
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 He may have been grieving and ill, but he needed to prove his family’s loyalty to the king in light of the events of spring 1536. In October 1536, he mobilised a force to support the king during the northern Pilgrimage of Grace rebellion, and in May 1537, he served on the commission that arraigned several of the northern rebels. Five months later, he attended the christening of the new prince, Edward, bearing “a taper of virgin wax… in a towel about his neck.”
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 This surely must have been a bittersweet event, for although he was celebrating the birth of a son borne by Anne’s replacement, Jane Seymour, he would also have seen his granddaughter, Elizabeth, who bore the chrisom, with the help of Thomas Seymour.
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 He was still at court for the procession and burial of Queen Jane Seymour in November 1537, assisting “about the corpse and chair”.
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Sketch of Hever Castle, early 18th century



Thomas probably returned to Hever in November 1538, before returning to court for New Year, when he received 20s. from the king and presented the infant Prince Edward with a gift.
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 In February 1538, Piers Butler was restored to the earldom of Ormond, with Thomas retaining the title for use in England. Thomas was to suffer a further blow in 1538, with the death of his wife, Elizabeth, on 3rd
 April. Elizabeth was staying at the Abbot of Reading’s home near Baynard’s Castle in London at the time and so was buried in St Mary’s Church, Lambeth, the resting place of many other Howard women. Following Elizabeth’s death, it was rumoured that Thomas would marry Lady Margaret Douglas, the king’s niece, but there is no evidence of any negotiations for this match.
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In January 1539, Thomas was once again recorded as presenting Prince Edward with a gift, but Thomas’s health was failing by this time. Of the many properties that Thomas had inherited and amassed, it was at Hever that Thomas spent his final days, dying at the castle on 12th
 March 1539. Robert Cranewell, Thomas’s trusted steward at Hever, penned a brief note to Cromwell: “My good lord and master is dead. He departed this transitory world I trust to the everlasting Lorde, for he made the end of a good Christian man, ever remembering the goodness of Christ”.
101

 The Archbishop of Canterbury, Thomas Cranmer, the Boleyns’ former chaplain, hastened to Hever Castle to remove Thomas’s personal belongings. It proved to be an astute move on Cranmer’s part, for within two weeks, Thomas Cromwell had sent his men to dispose of Thomas’s goods.
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The following month, the king paid 16l. 13s. 4d. to his chaplain, William Franklyn, Dean of Windsor, “for certain oraisons, suffrages and masses to be said for the soul’s health of th’erle of Wilts, late deceased”, which is hard evidence that Thomas was back in favour at his death.
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 Thomas was laid to rest at Hever’s Church of St Peter, where his tomb is topped by a magnificent memorial brass depicting Thomas dressed in the full robes and insignia of a Knight of the Garter, including the badge on his left breast and garter around his left knee. His head rests on a helmet surmounted by his daughter Anne Boleyn’s falcon badge, and his feet rest on a griffin.

Thomas had died knowing that he would most likely be the last Boleyn to sit at Hever Castle. Much of the property Thomas had inherited from his father, including Hever, was passed to his younger brother, Sir James Boleyn. James had served his niece, Queen Anne Boleyn, as chancellor, but had survived her fall, although he chose to focus on local matters in Norfolk from then on. In February 1540, he was granted the livery of Thomas’s properties. Then, in March 1540, he came to an arrangement with the king, exchanging his brother’s former properties in Kent, including Hever Castle, for six manors and land in Norfolk.
104

 Hever Castle was now Crown property.
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Thomas Boleyn as depicted on the memorial brass on his tomb in St Peter’s Church, Hever.



Lady Margaret Boleyn, who was still living in the castle at Thomas’s death, had to be relocated due to her illness. She died sometime between 30th
 September 1539, when a sanity inquest held at Canterbury ruled that she was incompetent to handle her affairs, and 20th
 March 1540, when Mary Boleyn and her second husband, William Stafford, were granted livery of Margaret’s lands.
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 Margaret had been the last Boleyn to reside at Hever Castle. It took until May 1543 for the Staffords to finally come into possession of Mary’s inheritance, including lands at Hever, which Thomas had specified for Mary, suggesting that Thomas and Mary had reached a reconciliation in the years after the downfall of her siblings. Mary was the last of the Boleyns of Hever Castle to die, passing away just two months later, on 19th
 July 1543. Mary had been something of a rebel who rejected fame and wealth in favour of love. She died in relative obscurity, a wealthy woman.





The Afterlife of the Boleyns of Hever Castle
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The Boleyn Queen


O
 n 17
 th
 November 1558, a twenty-five-year-old woman with Boleyn blood became Queen of England.

Elizabeth I is known to history as Gloriana, the Virgin Queen and Good Queen Bess. Many people worldwide recognise her portrait, yet her journey to the throne was not an easy one, and some of her contemporaries knew her as the bastard daughter of the Boleyn ‘whore’. Elizabeth was the Boleyn Queen and heir.

[image: A young Queen Elizabeth]



Hever’s Portrait of Queen Elizabeth I, 16th
 century.



Actress Genevieve Bujold, who played the imprisoned Anne Boleyn in “Anne of the Thousand Days”, a movie filmed in part at Hever Castle, spoke these impassioned words to Richard Burton as Henry VIII: “Elizabeth shall be a greater queen than any king of yours! She shall rule a greater England than you could ever have built! Yes – MY Elizabeth SHALL BE QUEEN! And my blood will have been well spent!” The historical Anne Boleyn never saw Henry VIII again after the May Day joust of 1536. Although she appears to have met with her chaplain, Matthew Parker, and extracted a promise from him regarding Elizabeth, she could not have anticipated that her daughter would ever rule England. That marvellous piece of film was a sugar-coated fantasy that so brilliantly encapsulated the irony of Anne’s daughter proving to be the greatest of Henry’s heirs. Her journey to the throne would prove to be a perilous one.

After her mother’s execution, an act of Parliament ruled Elizabeth illegitimate and removed her from the line of succession. She went from pampered princess to “Lady” and was sadly neglected, so much so that her governess, Lady Bryan, had to write to the king to plead for new clothes for the growing girl. It wasn’t until 1546, when she was in her thirteenth year, that Elizabeth moved to court to join her stepmother Catherine Parr’s household, a household that also included her half-sister, Mary. It is tempting to wonder if Elizabeth could have visited her second stepmother, Anne of Cleves, when she occupied Hever in the early years of Elizabeth’s life. We certainly know the two maintained a close relationship. Several extant pieces of correspondence from Anne of Cleves, written from Hever Castle, suggest that she occupied the castle far more than historians had previously anticipated.
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Miniature of Queen Anne of Cleves.



In December 1546, Elizabeth and Mary were placed back in the line of succession, but Henry VIII did not change their status; they were still illegitimate. Just weeks later, on 28th
 January 1547, Henry VIII died at Whitehall, and Elizabeth’s nine-year-old half-brother became King Edward VI, with his uncle, Edward Seymour, Earl of Hertford, leading his government as Lord Protector. Elizabeth soon received a proposal of marriage. Her suitor was a man twenty-five years her senior, Thomas Seymour, the king’s other uncle. Elizabeth rebuffed him politely, excusing herself on the grounds that she needed to mourn her father for at least two years. The ambitious Seymour rekindled his romance with Catherine Parr, the dowager queen, and married her in secret just a few days after Elizabeth turned him down.

Elizabeth went to live with her beloved stepmother, and it wasn’t long before Seymour moved in. His time in the household at Chelsea and Hanworth severely damaged Elizabeth’s reputation. Later testimonies, given by Elizabeth’s servants, Katherine Ashley and Thomas Parry, under interrogation at Seymour’s downfall in 1549, told a tale of what we today would view as sexual abuse. Seymour would visit Elizabeth’s chamber early in the morning before she was dressed and ready, and sometimes while she was still in bed. He would “strike her upon the back or on the buttocks familiarly” and tickle her, and, on occasion, he would come “in his night-gown, barelegged in his slippers”. Even more disturbing was an event at Hanworth. Catherine Parr restrained Elizabeth in the gardens there while Seymour “cut her gown in a hundred pieces”. Catherine thankfully saw sense after catching her husband and stepdaughter in an embrace, and sent the girl to the home of Sir Anthony Denny. The pregnant Catherine retired to Sudeley Castle in Gloucestershire to prepare for the birth of her baby.

Elizabeth had an awful time that summer, suffering from migraines, irregular menstrual periods, digestive problems, jaundice, and anxiety attacks. She did, however, manage to mend her relationship with her stepmother, corresponding with her. She would never see Catherine again, though, for Catherine died of puerperal fever in September 1548. The ambitious Seymour was arrested in January 1549, accused of trying to kidnap the king, plotting to marry Elizabeth, and attempting to put her on the throne. He was executed on 20th
 March 1549 after being found guilty of 33 counts of treason.

Early 1549 was another difficult time for Elizabeth. She had to address rumours that she had been pregnant with Seymour’s child, and was kept under house arrest while investigations were underway concerning whether Elizabeth was involved with her governess, Katherine Ashley, and her cofferer, Thomas Parry, in a plot with Thomas Seymour. Thankfully, while the testimonies of Ashley and Parry told a scandalous story, they did not provide evidence that Elizabeth and Seymour were planning to marry and take the throne. Ashley and Parry both stated that the princess had refused Seymour. Despite the pressure the fifteen-year-old princess was under, she did not implicate herself, and survived the scandal.

An even more stressful period in Elizabeth’s youth was a few months after her half-sister, Mary, became queen. Mary I’s reign brought religious changes, with Mary repealing Edward VI’s religious measures and returning the country to the Catholic fold. Mary was also planning to marry the Catholic Philip of Spain, son of the Holy Emperor. A group of disaffected men began planning an uprising to remove Mary and to replace her with Elizabeth, who, they thought, could marry Edward Courtenay, Earl of Devon. Unfortunately for the conspirators, the queen’s privy council got wind of trouble brewing. The rebellion, led by Sir Thomas Wyatt the Younger, son of Anne Boleyn’s former admirer, poet Sir Thomas Wyatt the Elder, failed.

It is not known how much Elizabeth knew of the plot, but she was arrested and taken to the Tower of London on 18th
 March 1554. There, she was kept in the very same apartments in which her mother had spent her final days in 1536, while Mary I’s council tried desperately to implicate her in the rebellion. Elizabeth kept her wits about her and pleaded her innocence, and Wyatt went to his death on 11th
 April 1554, proclaiming her innocence. For a time, Henry VIII’s surviving former queen, Anne of Cleves, was suspected of involvement in the rebellion because of her proximity to Allington Castle at her home of Hever Castle. Neither Elizabeth nor Anne of Cleves was proven to have any involvement, but Anne was never again welcomed into Mary’s close court in the way she had become accustomed. Elizabeth was finally released from the Tower on 19th
 May 1554, the anniversary of Anne Boleyn’s execution. She was kept under house arrest until April 1555, when she was summoned to court to attend her half-sister during her pregnancy. The baby never came; Mary was not pregnant, so Elizabeth was given her freedom in October 1555 and allowed to travel to her estate at Hatfield.

Elizabeth was at Hatfield on 17th
 November 1558 when she succeeded Mary as queen. According to tradition, Elizabeth was sitting under an oak tree in the parkland around Hatfield when she received news of Mary’s death. Sir Robert Naunton recorded how she fell to her knees and, “after a good time of respiration”, uttered part of Psalm 18, the Latin verse translating to “this is the Lord’s doing; it is marvellous in our eyes”. At her coronation procession on 14th
 January 1559, Elizabeth paid tribute to her mother by using a vignette of Anne Boleyn as queen on the processional route. An effigy of a crowned Anne Boleyn was perhaps the most public and most full representation of Anne Boleyn that had been seen in twenty-three years. Elizabeth was crowned queen at Westminster Abbey the following day, in the same place and seat, and with the same crown that had been afforded to Anne nearly twenty-six years earlier.
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Hever Castle’s portrait of Queen Elizabeth I by Bettes, 16th
 century



Elizabeth I, daughter of Anne Boleyn, granddaughter of Thomas Boleyn, and great-great-granddaughter of Sir Geoffrey Boleyn, the man who had purchased Hever Castle back in 1462, reigned until her death on 24th
 March 1603. Her achievements as queen included defeating the Spanish Armada and turning England into a strong and dominant naval power, expanding England overseas through colonisation, and founding the Church of England through her religious settlement. Sadly, she also increasingly persecuted those of the Catholic faith, and her intolerance touched the walls of Hever Castle, once her mother’s childhood home.

After the death of Anne of Cleves, who had been allowed to occupy Hever for seventeen years, with her rent paid for by the Crown, Mary I sold the property to one of her household favourites, Sir Edward Waldegrave. Waldegrave had been a Catholic recusant during the reign of Henry’s only surviving male heir, King Edward VI. Having been imprisoned in the Tower, he was welcomed back into the royal council when Mary I came to the throne in 1553. During the early years of Elizabeth’s reign, the ‘Waldegrave conspiracy’ saw Sir Edward and his wife back in a Tower cell.
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 There, Waldegrave died; the Tower claiming its fourth victim from the families who called Hever ‘home’.

Elizabeth’s reign was defined by the religious turmoil that had, in part, been set in motion when Anne Boleyn said ‘yes’ to Henry VIII that Christmas at Hever Castle in 1526. It was also enriched by Elizabeth’s role as a patron of Science and the Arts. Her reign is known as a Golden Age, and she is by far the most famous of the Tudor monarchs. Contrary to popular belief, Elizabeth did not shy away from her disgraced mother’s memory; rather, she imbued her court with her mother’s emblems and motifs. Her courtiers filled their long galleries with posthumously created portraits of Anne to acknowledge the new light in which Anne was to be seen: the mother of the queen regnant. Historian Lauren Mackay draws our attention to Elizabeth’s visit to Norwich Cathedral in 1578 when on progress to East Anglia. When Elizabeth entered the cathedral, full of the tombs of her Boleyn ancestors, she quietly asked that her throne be moved to face the Boleyn chapel.
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 It was a touching and public acknowledgement of her heritage. Elizabeth may have been “the lion’s cub”, but she was also, heart and stomach, a Boleyn.





Afterlife


A
 fter the
 tragic death of Sir Edward Waldegrave in 1561, Hever remained part of the Waldegrave estate for 150 years. The Waldegraves, like the families who would own Hever after them, chose not to live in the increasingly antiquated manor house. Rather, it was rented out to tenant farmers for income. Working tenants were far less likely to make substantial alterations to the property, which is why so much of the Boleyns’ house survives today. The panelling may have changed over the years, but despite four major periods of restoration, you are very much occupying the same spaces today that the Boleyns would have known five hundred years ago.
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 The great beams that carried the often-heavy weight of history are still in situ for you to stand upon today. Eric Ives, the late great biographer of Anne Boleyn, called Hever a “fairy-tale castle” and a “romantic shrine” to Anne’s relationship with Henry VIII.
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 Hever is a remarkable survivor, and in many ways, the Boleyns of Hever never left their dinky little castle, for they have long been represented and remembered there. As Cassell noted in his study of Hever in 1876, “the fair and ill-fated Anne is the dominant figure, which always fills the mind’s eye when we think of her dear old home”.
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The castle exterior



When you walk the corridors of Hever Castle today and explore the ancient chambers with exquisitely carved panelling, you are constantly reminded of Anne Boleyn. She appears to be in the very fabric of the building, with her arms and emblems emblazoned in stained glass and on the stone above fireplaces. Stunning portraits of her hang on many of its walls. You can stand before the illuminated pages of some of her most beloved books, which are both signed and inscribed by Anne before she became queen, and they were likely with her here at Hever. You can even see the initials ‘AB’ carved on the wall of the vice staircase of the keep, with a crudely carved axe head added between Anne’s initials. As Natalie Grueninger and Sarah Morris so brilliantly stated, we are separated only by time, and not space, when we visit Hever, for we are walking in the rooms in which she thrived, and amongst her most beloved surviving possessions.
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 Like the ‘ghost’ of that great literary character Rebecca de Winter – also murdered by her husband – at Manderley, Anne is found everywhere at Hever. However, not all these artefacts and emblems would have been known to Anne or indeed are as authentic as they appear. Rather, they illustrate how Anne Boleyn has been remembered at Hever in the many years since she died.

The history of how these constant reminders of Anne Boleyn came to be placed at Hever is, in many ways, the history of how differently Anne Boleyn’s story has been understood across the centuries. There are layers of Anne on display at Hever. 
 By peeling back the layers of how Anne has been represented and remembered here, we may not even get any closer to the real Anne Boleyn. However, these layers can help us to understand how previous generations shaped ideas of Anne and uncover the role Hever played in moulding those understandings
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Hever Castle’s inner hall today, formerly the kitchens.



Hever’s impressive collection of contemporary Tudor portraiture includes four portraits labelled Anne Boleyn, one from each century since her death. An iconic sixteenth-century panel portrait of Anne Boleyn – known as the ‘Hever Rose’ portrait - is Anne as her daughter’s generation saw her, for no known contemporary painting of Anne survives.
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 It is closely related to a roundel seventeenth-century oil painting on copper, showing Anne again with her now-iconic ‘B’ necklace. A rosy and more youthful eighteenth-century derivative of this portrait pattern has hung for some time in the room now known as Anne Boleyn’s Bedroom.

The most contentious portrait of Anne Boleyn at Hever, which divides opinion between historians, is the one held longest in the current collection and dates to the early nineteenth century. It is derivative of a disputed Holbein sketch, which remains without inscription as to the sitter’s identity. The portrait hangs in Hever’s inner hall, alongside a sister portrait of Mary Boleyn. The portrait of Mary was recently confirmed to be a likeness through analysis of an earlier example of this portrait in the Royal Collection.
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These portraits haven’t always hung at Hever; rather, they have been purchased to help tell Anne’s story. The twin sister portraits of Anne and Mary once hung at Warwick Castle and were purchased by William Waldorf Astor in the early 1900s.
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 The tradition of having a portrait of Anne at Hever is a long one, however, and one of the earlier references to a portrait of Anne at Hever was made by Samuel Ireland, writing in 1793. He noted a portrait of Anne in “the apartment in which she slept in [which] retains her name. Several letters of the amorous tyrant are now existing, which are addressed to her at this place”.
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In 1823, a visitor to Hever Castle was less than impressed with the painting of Anne that he saw hanging at Hever. He wrote:

“At Hever Castle is still preserved a small picture in oil which is an heir loom, and is said to be of that queen; it is a very stiff performance, and if it is a likeness of Ann Bolen, we look in vain for those captivating charms which are generally supposed to have enslaved the affections of the despotic monarch.”
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In 1801, similar feelings were expressed by another visitor to Hever who had observed a similar portrait of Anne at Rufford Abbey:

“In the attic story... a portrait of Anne Bullen on wood, but by no means as handsome as Holbein has painted her in which is preserved at Loseley in Surrey; yet as this one bears a great resemblance to a portrait of her at Hever Castle in Kent, the seat of her family, one is almost led to suspect that Henry’s taste for beauty would not have been much followed at the present day.”
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A portrait of Anne, which derives from the ‘B’ necklace pattern, still hangs at Loseley, so the one at Hever in 1801 likely differed from this model. Intriguingly, a portrait that is believed to have hung at Hever Castle is still owned by descendants of the Meade-Waldo family, who were then owners of the castle. Historian Alison Weir proposed that the portrait could be Anne of Cleves, who lived at Hever in the years after her annulment from King Henry VIII.
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 More intriguing still is the inscription on the painting. It reads ‘Anna Regina A.D. 1534’, suggesting that the individual inscribing the portrait believed it to depict Anne Boleyn, who was Queen Anne in that year. It may be that this portrait depicts neither of the queens called Anne who lived at Hever, but its presence at Hever tells us that Anne was actively remembered here.
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A miniature of Anne Boleyn.



As well as portraiture, legends were a long-lasting feature of the afterlife of Anne Boleyn. Although it is well known that Hever opened to the paying public formally in 1963, many visitors paid to experience Hever long before it opened as a business in the twentieth century, and many legends were peddled to entertain paying visitors. One of the earliest recorded examples that we have of a Hever legend about Anne is from the late 1790s, when it was stated that Anne Boleyn had been spared the sword and had, instead, died in a dungeon at Hever. Later iterations of this story conceded that she had died by the sword at the Tower but that she had been held prisoner at Hever before her untimely end.
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 Notwithstanding that Hever never had any dungeons, it appears that the Boleyns’ parlour was once nicknamed ‘the dungeon’ in the eighteenth century after it had been converted from a family room into a storage room.
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 Legend also had it that the public house by the church, now called the King Henry
 V
 III,
 had once been called The Bull and Butcher
 , but had been renamed by the locals as The Bullen Butcher
 after Henry had killed Anne. Just as the Victorian history of the Tower of London recounted by the Yeoman Warders is laced with these legends, so too were the early tours of Hever.

Hever would be open on specified dates, and the public would be allowed to see the principal rooms of the former Boleyn house. It was not long before royalty was once again at Hever. On the afternoon of Saturday 13th
 September 1834, Princess Alexandrina Victoria – later Queen Victoria - journeyed from Tonbridge Wells to Hever Castle. She wrote in her diary that evening that:

“At a quarter past 1 we drove with Lady Flora and dear Lehzen to Hever Castle. We arrived there at 3. This curious old place was the residence of Sir Thomas Boleyn, father of poor Queen Anne Boleyn. We saw the room where she used to live and sat on a seat on which Henry VIII used to sit. We then mounted our horses. Mr Conroy met us there. I rode Rosa.”
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Victoria seemed to be captivated by Anne’s story and would later paint and draw many pictures of Anne Boleyn, such as a dramatic scene from Donizetti’s opera, with Anne pleading with Henry for her life.
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 When she was queen, Victoria purchased several items believed to be the possessions of Anne, such as the marriage clock gifted to Anne by Henry, a copy of which in silver was installed at Hever from 1903.
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 She also ensured the restoration of the Tower’s Chapel of St Vincula, and for the first time marking out Anne’s grave. The marking of Anne’s scaffold site, though inaccurate, was part of making Anne more visible at sites where her history played out. Just as the Tower of London was modified during Victoria’s reign to accommodate an increased interest in Anne in popular culture, so too was the image of Anne at Hever reimagined for its Victorian audience with the addition of a faux Anne Boleyn bedchamber.
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Henry VIII arriving at Hever Castle by Joseph Nash, c.1839.
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Henry VIII with Anne Boleyn in the Long Gallery by Joseph Nash, c.1839.



The artist Joseph Nash created two engravings of Hever Castle for his 1839 book The Mansions of England in the Olden Time.
 The first shows the castle’s courtyard just after Hever’s then-owner, Jane Waldo, had renovated some of the castle’s interiors. You can see to the far left-hand side of the engraving that Nash has captured the long since gone door on the east elevation, which would have given access to the domestic side of the household.
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 Henry VIII is depicted arriving through the gatehouse, with a young Anne Boleyn in a gable hood watching from a window. The second engraving shows Henry VIII courting Anne Boleyn in Hever’s long gallery. The gallery’s original panelling can be seen in the sketch, as can the seat on which Queen Victoria had sat when visiting as a princess, which was then believed to have been the one that Henry occupied.

In 1866, a group of artists known as the ‘St John’s Wood Clique’ rented Hever for summer sketching and painting. It was used as a backdrop for several paintings set in the Tudor era, many of which drew upon stories about Anne. David Wilkie Winfield painted a dramatic scene of Anne being arrested at Greenwich Palace, later remodelling sketches of Hever’s great hall as a backdrop. He also painted a more solemn scene with angels visiting Anne in her bedchamber before her execution, which he set in the so-called ‘Anne Boleyn Bedchamber’ at Hever. William Frederic Yeames created a painting of a ‘ghost hunt’ in the bedroom traditionally believed to be Anne’s. It shows the room with its original larger proportions, accommodating a four-poster bed with yellow curtains and showing the entrance to the peephole window to the great hall.
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Anne Boleyn’s Bedroom by William Frederick Yeames, c.1866.



William Waldorf Astor was also a devotee to Anne Boleyn’s story, and he was already amassing items relating to her life before he secured the purchase of Hever Castle in 1903. Perhaps no other individual has brought more of Anne back to Hever than he. Among hundreds of other contemporary Early Modern artefacts, he purchased two prayer books that had belonged to Anne: the 1527/8 Book of Hours and a small psalter. He also purchased a prayer book illustrated by the celebrated court artist Nicholas Hilliard for Queen Elizabeth I.
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 Astor’s architect, Frank Loughborough Pearson, oversaw the insertion of Tudor and Boleyn emblems throughout the plasterwork ceilings and the carved panelling he lavished on the somewhat dishevelled Boleyn home. A balcony was added to the Boleyn’s former kitchens, and the design was drawn from the rood screen at King’s College Chapel, Cambridge, installed by Henry VIII for Anne. Anne’s white falcon emblem returned to Hever when Clayton and Bell, the renowned stained-glass manufacturers, installed the heraldic arms of the Boleyns in Hever’s long gallery. The initials ‘AB’ and ‘HR’ were added in shields along the length of that glorious room’s plasterwork ceiling, and Tudor roses were added to that found in the room formerly the Boleyns’ kitchen. Anne had never been so present in Hever’s décor.

William Waldorf Astor’s fascination with Anne gave him respect for the house he inherited, and he saved as much of the original fabric of the house as possible. Astor’s Hever was a far more private one than had been the case in the previous century, and his curation of the rooms provided the ultimate after-dinner tour for the many auspicious guests who would come to stay. From Winston Churchill to Queen Elizabeth II and Prince Philip, some of the most powerful and renowned figures of the twentieth century have experienced Hever’s charm. John Jacob Astor V, William’s son, was more than candid about some of the less authentic additions to the castle by his father. When asked if Henry VIII had slept in the chamber named after that king, he replied that the only king to have slept in the said room was ‘Rex’ Harrison.
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The balcony in Hever’s inner hall, inspired by the rood screen at King’s College Chapel, Cambridge.



Harrison had played Henry VIII in the premiere run of Maxwell Anderson’s popular play Anne of the Thousand Days
 in 1948. While Anderson’s early post-war Anne Boleyn was fiery, Anderson’s play was really about Henry VIII, despite the promise in the glorious title. As Susan Bordo revealed in her landmark study of Anne Boleyn’s ‘creation’, King Henry VIII was originally given the final words in the play.
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 Haunted by his actions in killing Anne, he cries that he will look “…forever down the long corridors of air, finding them empty, hearing only echoes… It would have been easier to forget you living than to forget you dead.”
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 The play’s frank discussion of adultery and incest prevented film adaptation until the late 1960s, when the restrictive Hollywood’s ‘Hayes’ code was lifted.
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 However, the film version changed Anderson’s play and made it all about Anne.

Hal B Wallis, who had produced the 1964 film Becket
 with actor Richard Burton, produced the film version of Anne of the Thousand Days
 with Burton cast as Henry. Elizabeth Taylor had wished to play the role of Anne, but the part was given to the French-Canadian Genevieve Bujold, who forever changed the face of Anne Boleyn on screen. Wallis secured the rights with Gavin Astor, John Jacob’s son, to film much of Anne’s story at Hever Castle. In the late 1960s screenplay by Bridget Boland and John Hale, it is Anne who speaks the last lines: an echo of the defiant, furious, and forgivably fictitious ‘Tower’ scene. Bujold’s Anne shredded Burton’s Henry by prophesying that the son and heir he had ‘ripped and torn the body of the church and his friends’ to secure would be overshadowed by her Boleyn heir: Elizabeth. It is a glorious scene that allows us to feel that Anne went down fighting and with a confident belief in her daughter’s future succession; that her “blood” was indeed “well spent”.

[image: Genevieve Bujold as Anne Boleyn at Hever Castle]



Genevieve Bujold as Anne Boleyn at Hever Castle in the 1969 film “Anne of the Thousand Days”.



In earlier films about Anne Boleyn, she was portrayed as a hunted and betrayed victim of Henry’s greed, as was the case in the 1920 silent film Anna Bolena
 , which spoke closely to the Victorian model of Anne’s story, which had so beguiled Queen Victoria. Audiences only saw a snippet of Anne’s resilient end in the 1930 comedy romp, The Private Life of Henry
 V
 III
 . Anne of the Thousand Days
 showed a markedly different Anne: one who is willing to oppose not only her parents - risking Hever Castle being pulled down about the Boleyns’ ears - but also willing to defy the king. This is a woman who laid down the terms of her acquiescence: the crown. This Anne asked for power in return for the promise of a son and showed a queen not afraid to exercise the power given to her. It is the moment Anne Boleyn got complex and messy in popular culture.

In an interview at Hever Castle in 1968, Bujold stated of Anne Boleyn: “I love her. I have read a great deal about Anne Boleyn but now I would like to meet her. I feel I know her, so I hope I am making her as alive and ‘now’ as possible.”
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 Interviewed many years later by Susan Bordo, Bujold was asked if she wanted to see a particular actor play her in the future, to which she spiritedly replied: “No: Anne is mine.”
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 In many ways, Bujold is right. Anne Boleyn was never again put back into the passive and more comfortable box in which the Victorians had so dearly observed her. This was a brave, bold and defiant Anne, reflective of the political landscape of the late 1960s. In many ways, every on-screen Anne since has their roots in Bujold’s watershed performance.

The fact that nearly a third of the film was shot at Hever Castle imbued it with a sense of authenticity that masks many of its historical inaccuracies. It drew in huge crowds to Hever: a much-needed boost to the dwindling funds of the Astor family, who had in 1968 endured the second disastrous flooding of the castle in 10 years. Hal B Wallis gifted the Astors one of the Tudor-style prop tents that had been erected by the film crew on Anne Boleyn’s orchard, and it was used to serve tea to the burgeoning visitors who had taken Bujold’s Anne to heart. Costume designer Margaret Furse had even replicated the clothing worn in Hever’s portrait labelled Anne after Holbein, and that image became the dominant one in Hever guidebooks and on souvenirs.
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Hever Castle’s portrait of Anne Boleyn, 17th
 century.



When the Astor Family finally sold Hever Castle in 1983, the Guthrie Family carried on the tradition of investing in items relating to Anne Boleyn and her contemporaries at the Tudor court. They have now amassed such a vast and culturally important collection that the celebrated art historian Philip Mould has dubbed it “the greatest privately owned public collection of portraits that tells the story of the Tudors.” Historian Kate Williams called Hever a “Tudor Time Machine”, and it is easy to see why so many esteemed historians have chosen to film influential and popular documentaries about Anne and the Tudors here. Lucy Worsley, Tracy Borman and Suzannah Lipscomb are amongst the many celebrated historians who have chosen Hever as a location to illustrate to a wide audience its important and ever-popular history.

Hever Castle is emblematic of the many achievements of the Boleyns. In just three generations, the Boleyns had ensured that Anne and her siblings had a privileged education and refined upbringing. Hever is the only surviving witness to some of the most remarkable annals in our history. The Boleyns of Hever’s many extraordinary successes ensured that Hever was a place where astonishing history happened. Everything changed when Anne said “yes” to Henry VIII. Future generations will explore different versions of Anne’s story, and undoubtedly Hever will incorporate new ideas and fresh evidence into their experience in the decades ahead. What seems almost certain is that while the picture-postcard castle stands, as it has for well over 600 years, Hever Castle and the ever-dazzling Boleyn family will remain indelibly linked in the popular consciousness.





An Insider’s Guide to Hever Castle Today
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Modern day Hever Castle.




H
 ever Castle
 itself is a remarkable surviving witness to the astounding story of the Boleyn family. While some of Hever’s interiors are cosmetically distinct from their original usage, the castle’s exterior has barely changed since the Boleyns’ time. The whitewash, which hid the Tudor brickwork of some of the Boleyns’ additions to the castle, has faded away over time, revealing the beautiful sandstone of the hewn blocks which make up the curtain walls and the keep. Still hanging in place, over 600 years later, is the original portcullis under which many important heads passed. The house may be larger now than the one occupied by its most famous residents, but internally it contains the bones and heart of the Boleyns’ manor, which generations since have fleshed out into a living museum of their significance. Its current owners, the Guthrie family, have played a vital role in continuing to furnish Hever with artefacts closely related to their story, while delicately retaining those important layers of the Boleyn story that tell us so much about how they were viewed in the centuries after their glory days.

When we visit Hever Castle, we walk in the Boleyns’ celebrated footsteps, and we can view the sites and objects they loved. Surviving palaces like Hampton Court and the Tower of London can transport us to the glory days of the Boleyns’ rise to power and the most tragic moments of their fall. However, the queen’s lodgings and the privy apartments at both important sites have long since gone. Similarly, much of Anne’s ancestral home at Blickling was reimagined in 1616. Although many of Hever’s chambers were afforded an exquisite veneer of Tudor-style panelling and plasterwork by William Waldorf Astor, the wall plates, braces, and purlins that make up the timbered structure of the Boleyns’ house remain for us to enjoy today. New items will be added to the collection over time, and existing ones may be presented to visitors in different areas of the castle. This is an insider’s guide to some of what we consider to be the must-see items of the remarkable Hever Castle collection as it exists today.

Hever Castle’s inner hall, the first room on the current visitor’s route, was created in the space once occupied by the Boleyns’ kitchens. Evidence suggests that the kitchens were moved to the great hall when the chimney to the fireplaces collapsed in the nineteenth century, and then moved by Guy Sebright - who rented the castle in the 1890s - to the rear of the castle, across the moat. This relocation of the kitchens allowed William Waldorf Astor to reimagine this space as a greeting hall, where strong aperitifs would be served before dinner.

Astor also moved the main staircase to this space and installed a gallery for musicians to entertain his many notable guests. Frank Loughborough Pearson, Astor’s architect, had travelled the country to get inspiration from extant Tudor manors and palaces for Hever’s decor. The carved screen on the balcony in the inner hall was inspired by the rood screen at King’s College Chapel, Cambridge, that survives today and which was created during Anne Boleyn’s reign. The original is highly decorated with Anne’s initials and emblems, while the later creation at Hever is a plainer homage to a key artefact of Anne’s brief time as queen.
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Detail of the ceiling of the inner hall.



Tudor roses were added in plasterwork to the ceiling of the inner hall, in recognition of the four Tudor monarchs who owned the castle and the two queens consort who called it ‘home’.
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 You can also find the silver replica of the marriage clock gifted to Anne Boleyn by King Henry VIII in this room. Many portraits now hang in this space, including a sixteenth-century portrait of King Henry VIII after the celebrated court artist, Hans Holbein the Younger. He accompanies the two eighteenth-century portraits of Anne and Mary Boleyn, also after Holbein, which hang on either side of the fully functional fireplace.

Where the Boleyns’ larder and dairy were located is now a stunning drawing room, with exquisite inlaid panelling inspired from that created by Thomas Boynton in c.1575-85 at Sizergh Castle in Cumbria. Today’s room is a magnificent example of how the Astor family combined historical aesthetics with Edwardian comfort, and it is the most evocative example of Astor’s style.

Hever Castle’s great hall has a wonderful stone-carved version of the Boleyn arms above the fireplace, installed by John Jacob Astor in recognition of their time at the castle. The original green men, carved onto the screen that Geoffrey Boleyn used to partition off a parlour, are also still visible. This room has since had a much lower ceiling installed, when a gallery was placed above it. Later still, William Waldorf Astor decorated the ceiling with timbers brought in from the Blickling estate as a nod to the Boleyns’ ancestral home. The doorway to the parlour (now the morning room), which used to be located to the north of the screen, is now long gone, as are the courtyard windows to the south, which were closed when an entrance hall was added in the mid to late sixteenth century.

[image: King Henry VIII personal lock in Hevers great hall]



King Henry VIII’s personal lock in Hever’s great hall, 16th
 century.



A room that has kept close to its original usage is Hever’s library, where the offices of the Boleyns’ estate would have been located. This is where the original staircase to the Boleyns’ great chamber was once situated, to the room’s northwest. It is now furnished with sabicu wood panelling in the style of the Anglo-Dutch carver Grinling Gibbons. A study has been partitioned off beyond the southernmost bookshelves, which were based on those once owned by the diarist Samuel Pepys.

While the drawing room and library have a distinct Edwardian touch, the morning room - once known as the Boleyns’ Parlour – has a far older feel. Despite its current name, this is very much an afternoon room, for as it faces northwest, it does not enjoy the sun until the early afternoon. As the sun goes down in the evening, the light catches the ripples from the moat, and it dances on the ceiling by the window frames, which once lit the dais of the great hall.

The vice staircase to the Boleyns’ solar is intact, and it is remarkable when climbing up its winding structure to think of the many gowns that have swept up against the stone walls over the years. This staircase was later extended up to service the long gallery after the Boleyns’ time. In the early days of the Astors’ opening of the castle in the 1960s, visitors would continue up this way as the family still occupied the middle floor of Hever. Today, visitors alight halfway up the staircase at Anne Boleyn’s bedroom, for most of the house is now open to explore.

Anne Boleyn’s bedroom is a surprisingly small space, made smaller by the addition of a built-in wardrobe during the Astors’ tenure. This space has a long history of being identified as Anne Boleyn’s bedroom., Another eighteenth-century portrait of Anne, wearing her famous ‘B’ necklace, hangs in this room in recognition of that tradition. You will also see a half-domed ceiling in front of the window, an original Tudor feature that provided greater light. A wooden chest, carved with the name ‘Bullen’ and the word ‘Hever’ is also located in this space, though it is most certainly a later piece. Similarly, a bed carved with Anne Boleyn’s name was long held in this bedroom, though it too is a later creation and is now on display in the ‘Queen’s Chamber’.
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Anne Boleyn’s Book of Hours, c.1410-1450.



Anne Boleyn’s Books of Hours are undoubtedly the stars in Hever’s Boleyn collection. The beautifully illuminated manuscript, created c.1410-1450 in Bruges, contains Anne’s prophetic inscription “Le temps viendra, Je Anne Boleyn
 ” (The Time Will Come, I Anne Boleyn). This book was likely gifted to Anne by a female relative, as they were chiefly used by women and had intergenerational familial ownership. The later book, created in Paris c.1528, was probably created especially for Anne, and she was certainly its first owner. In it, she wrote a rhyming couplet:

“Remember me when you do pray,

That hope doth lead from day to day.

Anne Boleyn”.

These books are on public display in the Boleyns’ great chamber, now more commonly known as the Books of Hours Room. They are as about as close as you can get to Anne Boleyn today. One of Hever Castle’s longest-serving stewards, Iain Smith, reminds Hever’s visitors that Anne Boleyn’s DNA is all over these treasured possessions. She has left us not only her words but the very essence of her faith and style, evidenced across their pages. They are the jewels in Hever Castle’s impressive collection.

Also located in this room is a marriage plaque celebrating the Boleyn family’s most noteworthy marriages: Thomas Boleyn to Lady Elizabeth Howard and Anne Boleyn to King Henry VIII. This wooden plaque, complete with the combined arms of these marriages, is a pre-Astor relic. Pictorial evidence survives, with a now sadly missing twin plaque, when it was located in the central chamber of the keep - the room now known as the council chamber - in the 1830s. Little is known about this plaque’s creation, but it has hung at various places in the castle for many years and is one of the earlier examples of the many Boleyn-related items added to Hever. A reproduction of the memorial brass placed on the tomb of Thomas Boleyn can also be seen in his great chamber, and the original can be viewed at St Peter’s Church. A printed rubbing of the brass can also be viewed in Hever Castle’s gallery.
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The book of hours room at Hever Castle



The Boleyns’ great chamber would undoubtedly have been hung with fine tapestries and arras, and today it houses two significant tapestries. The armorial tapestry bears the arms of King Henry VIII and was listed in the inventories of the king’s possessions taken upon his death. William Waldorf Astor purchased the other as a marriage tapestry, created in c.1525, and purported at the time of sale to depict the wedding of Princess Mary Tudor, Henry VIII’s sister, to King Louis XII of France. This event was attended by Mary Boleyn, and possibly Anne. More recent attention has been paid to the word ‘Esther’ woven onto the bride’s dress, which would suggest that this is a biblical scene evoking the story of Queen Esther. It is no less pertinent to Anne Boleyn’s story for this re-evaluation. On Passion Sunday, during the final months of Anne’s queenship, her almoner, John Skip, used the story of Queen Esther and her triumph over the king’s wicked minister Haman in a sermon that acted as a warning shot across the bow of Thomas Cromwell, Henry VIII’s minister. It was not the queen who prevailed in Anne’s case, for Cromwell went on to play a crucial role in bringing the Boleyn family crashing down.

In the Boleyns’ best bedchamber, now known as the ‘Queen’s Chamber’ owing to the six portraits that purport to depict Henry’s six queens, we find Hever’s seventeenth-century roundel portrait of Anne Boleyn. This posthumous portrait was painted on copper and was likely created as a corridor portrait set. Philip Mould has hypothesised that it may even have been created to be set into the panelling of a long gallery.
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The staircase gallery, which was added shortly after the Boleyns’ time at Hever, features two contemporary portraits of the Boleyn heir, Queen Elizabeth I. The first is a particularly rare example of an early portrait of Elizabeth created in the first few years of her reign. Known as the ‘Chawton Portrait’, for it was once owned by Jane Austen and her family at Chawton house, it shows Elizabeth before she had crafted the highly controlled, symbolic, and stylised imagery found in later models. A good example of this carefully curated imagery can be found in the second and perhaps more impressive portrait of Elizabeth, which is attributed to the Elizabethan artist John Bettes. Elizabeth controlled her later portraiture closely, and this example has a facial pattern drawn from the famous ‘Darnley Portrait’. Beautifully embroidered on Elizabeth’s sleeve in blackwork are the emblems of honeysuckle and acorns, which were the emblems used by Anne Boleyn and Henry VIII. The acorn was also adopted by Elizabeth’s favourite, Robert Dudley.
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Carving of Anne Boleyn in Henry VIII’s Bedchamber.



In the so-called King Henry VIII bedchamber, which was most likely the servants’ dormitory during the Boleyns’ ownership, can be found an early lithograph of Hans Holbein’s sketch, which was labelled as Anne Boleyn by John Cheke, tutor to Henry VIII’s son, Edward, and which is held in the Royal Collection. This simple but striking sketch, which depicts a woman of high status in a nightgown, divides opinion amongst historians as to the sitter’s identity.
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 Above the fireplace, added by William Waldorf Astor, can be found a elaborate carving of Henry VIII and the two of his queens who lived at Hever: Anne Boleyn to his left, and Anne of Cleves to his right. This carving of Anne Boleyn was drawn from the other disputed Holbein sketch that is often labelled as her, held in the British Museum.

Keen observers and lovers of Hever may have noticed that the impressive long gallery has been absent from our journey through the Boleyns’ castle. It has long been the tradition that the castle’s long gallery was where King Henry VIII held court when visiting the Boleyns at Hever. Long galleries certainly existed when Thomas Boleyn and his family arrived at Hever in 1505. As the architectural historian Rosalys Coope noted in her study of the origins of the long gallery, the example at Richmond Palace had been built c.1506, replacing an earlier example. Other examples of early long galleries in private country houses include one at Thornbury Castle, built by Edward Stafford, Duke of Buckingham, c.1511, and those created by Archbishop William Warham and Cardinal Thomas Wolsey. Moreover, we know that galleries were created especially for the visits of Henry VIII and Anne Boleyn, such as at Shurland, in the Isle of Sheppey, created in 1532.
136



However, Coope dated Hever’s long gallery, formed over the medieval great hall, to c.1584, when Charles Waldegrave had ownership of the castle. Upon inspection of the exterior stonework of the gallery, where the date of 1584 is supposed to be located, we have been unable to locate this vital clue to this feature’s age. Moreover, we have no evidence that Charles used Hever Castle during his lifetime. He appears to have resided with his recusant wife, Jeronima, chiefly at their numerous properties in Norfolk. Until the ancient beams that make up the structure of this impressive gallery are tested, we will not be certain which generation of Hever’s owners created it. If it were created by the Boleyns, it would be amongst the earliest examples of a long gallery above a great hall in England. If it was built after the Boleyns, which seems to be more likely, then it is possible that the alterations occurred during the period when the Crown owned the castle.
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Anne Boleyn’s initials in Hever Castle’s long gallery.



For now, a tantalising question mark hovers over the creation date of this evocative space. Nevertheless, it has a long tradition of being connected to the Boleyns, and William Waldorf Astor saturated the impressive space with Anne Boleyn’s initials and the arms of the Boleyns who owned the castle. It has also been furnished with one of the most significant collections of Tudor portraiture on public display today. Amongst these contemporary portraits hangs the famous ‘Hever Rose Portrait’ of Anne Boleyn.

The last room on the visitor’s route is the ‘Council Chamber’, which houses a collection of torture and execution implements collected by William Waldorf Astor. It contains four beheading swords, similar to the one used to end Anne’s life. One example, created in Germany in the sixteenth century, is etched with a haunting image of a woman kneeling, blindfolded, awaiting the blade, which is being held aloft by the executioner. It is a chilling reminder of what that horrific moment on 19th
 May 1536 would have looked like; the moment that marked the end of the Boleyns’ inspiring rise to power and the beginning of the end of their time at Hever Castle.
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Etching of an execution on a 16th
 century beheading sword.



Hever does not easily give up its secrets, yet the opaque parts of Hever’s past will provide opportunities for future researchers to uncover. Our knowledge of the lives of the many people who have lived here is ever-changing, and Hever will be the beneficiary of such research for many years to come. It remains one of, if not the most evocative and rich places to experience the story of the Boleyns. Whatever has been said about the character of this famous (or infamous) family and their legacy, nobody could doubt the longevity of their prominence, and Hever Castle will remain the most redolent portal into their dazzling world.
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Beautiful Boston ivy on the front of Hever Castle
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